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CheckFree is the leading provider of financial e-commerce

solutions and services. From powering online billing and 

payment, to automating financial transactions, to streamlining

regulatory reporting tasks, CheckFree’s broad range of 

solutions continue to set new standards for quality. Always

flexible, ever reliable, fully scalable. For more than 20 years,

companies have relied on CheckFree for financial 

e-commerce solutions of lasting value.

F i n a n c i a l  H i g h l i g h t s

Year ended June 30 2000 2001 2002

Statement of Operations Data (in thousands, except per-share data)

Total revenues $ 310,195 $ 433,320 $ 490,477

Net loss $ (32,320) $ (363,135) $ (440,950)

Net loss per common
equivalent shares outstanding $ (0.61) $ (4.49) $ (5.04)

Weighted average common and 
equivalent shares outstanding 53,367 80,863 87,452

Balance Sheet Data

Working capital $ 178,761 $ 142,661 $ 201,741

Total assets $ 713,114 $ 2,183,953 $1,637,477

Total stockholders’ equity $ 445,894 $ 1,732,186 $1,305,661

Net book value 
per share outstanding $ 7.63 $ 19.93 $ 14.82
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Built to last.

We knew from the beginning that in order to endure 

and prosper, we’d need to demonstrate an unshakable 

commitment to certain absolutes.

We’d have to show we understood the difference between

innovating for its own sake and innovating with relevance.

We’d need to streamline operations using smart,

efficient processes.

We’d need to prove that when it came to satisfying the 

customer, we put our words into action, and delivered 

the results.

But above all, we knew none of it would endure 

without an underlying platform of exacting,

hard-tested quality.

Today in 2002, that understanding has helped us build a 

business with quality standards that are the de facto 

industry ‘bar’ by which all others measure themselves.

CheckFree is performing as we designed it to perform.

Measuring up. And built to last.

No exceptions.

D e l i v e r i n g . . . . . . . . . . . . . � Q u a l i t y
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Fellow Shareholders:

Our performance in fiscal 2002 reflects good execution 
tempered by the challenge of leading the expansion of new
markets in an unaccommodating economy. It also reflects 
the results of a change in corporate direction as we moved
to a focus on balancing bottom-line results with market 
leadership, and on more fully leveraging our investments 
in infrastructure, economies of scale and expertise.

In fiscal 2002 we made meaningful bottom-line improvements
across each of our divisions, culminating in consolidated 
earnings per share of 19 cents, on a pro forma basis. This
compares to a loss per share of 18 cents in fiscal 2001 on 
a pro forma basis, representing a very solid return on our
operational investments. In a period where it is more clear
than ever that “profits are an opinion, cash is a fact,” we
moved from negative cash flow to positive free cash flow.

In a challenging business environment, we executed on 
our plans, served clients, lowered costs – both for our 
customers and within our own operations – and advanced
innovation in all market segments in which we compete.
From a shareholder perspective, these advancements should
translate into improved margins in fiscal 2003, and still leave
room for continued investment in innovation and develop-
ment to extend our market leadership, as well as room for
improving cost and value for our customers.

That, in its shortest form, is our plan for fiscal 2003.
While providing service to financial institutions, investment
organizations, global corporations, local companies and everyday
consumers, we intend to continue the tradition of innovation,
quality, convenience and optimized efficiency that has defined
our market leadership for more than 21 years.

Fiscal 2002 Reflection

As the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of a company
that prides itself in optimized efficiency and competitive
performance, my analysis of fiscal 2002 necessarily is first
drawn to that which was not optimal. Despite the fact that
we have executed well and have done far better than most
other companies in our categories of business, there are
areas of performance with which I am not satisfied.

In retrospect after analyzing the past three years, I believe 
we could have done a better job managing our resources and
the market as we dealt with the distortions of the overzeal-
ous investment environment. The hyper-valuations of the
“Internet bubble” funded many competitive companies that,
while lacking solid business plans, nonetheless created an
altered market with which we had to contend. There were
occasions when we let our attention as a management team
be distracted by competitive entrants that we knew could
not hold muster over the long term – from paper bill 
scanning companies, to consortiums, to companies large and
small making “smoke and mirror” entries into our space.
We did a reasonable job in remaining focused on the markets
we serve, but could have a done better job managing the
market and our clients through these distractions.

This same over-funded economy led us to pay a premium
price for our acquisition of BlueGill Technologies that I
believe may not meet our targeted rate of return on capital.
This doesn’t take away from this acquisition being the right
strategic move – these assets already have helped us extend
our already substantial leadership in the electronic billing
industry. We will make the most of this strategic asset, and
we will continue to add value to our most critical immediate
opportunity, which is extending leadership in the electronic
billing marketspace. However, in retrospect it is clear that we
may not hit an acceptable rate of return based on the value
of the shares we used in April of 2000.

A Letter from Chairman and CEO Pete Kight
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In another area of focus, and again with the benefit of 
hindsight, it is apparent that we would have been wiser to act
sooner to reallocate our resources, restructure the expense
base for CheckFree i-Solutions, and consolidate acquired
locations as we did on March 19 of 2002. The benefits of
these moves on our cash flow are clear, as is the fiscal 2002
earnings per share improvement of about three cents over
just slightly more than a quarter. This company did a truly
great job in managing this consolidation while actually
improving operational execution in the same period.
However, reflection demands that we ask how much further
ahead we would be had we acted sooner. I believe we could
have done better.

With all that said, I am very proud of the discipline of 
execution that we sharpened in fiscal 2002, and the speed
with which we redirected the company to a bottom-line
focus. By expanding our highly successful Sigma Quality
performance programs to more areas of our business, we
identified gaps in performance that could be corrected, and
we did so with very efficient application. By focusing on
innovation with relevance, we created new opportunities to
expand both revenue and earnings. By working more closely
with our customers, we developed new approaches to
satisfying cost and value requirements. The end result of
these moves is that as we increased our operational efficiency
and improved our margins, we simultaneously hit record high
customer satisfaction levels. That is a powerful combination.

In summary, we continued to improve our operating 
performance despite a challenging economy, we continued 
to translate that improved performance into economic savings
for our customers, and we did both of these while investing
in innovations important to our market leadership. This was
our strength in fiscal 2002, and will continue to be our focus
in fiscal 2003.

Fiscal 2003: Defining, Developing and Delivering
Quality Performance

As we begin fiscal 2003, I am grateful of a saner, more
grounded venture and business development environment
where only solid business concepts with solid business plans
and proven ability to execute will be entering the market.
At the same time, I am hopeful of a more logical investment
market where share price reflects the real value of market
leadership, expanded reach, solid execution and steadily
improving bottom line results. We are prepared to compete
– and win – in this reality. We are prepared to improve 
shareholder returns, moving from earnings per share of 
19 cents in fiscal 2002 to earnings per share in the range of
58 to 62 cents in fiscal 2003, on a pro forma basis, and free 
cash flow approaching triple digits.

Two core tenets of our business have always been market
leadership and innovation – we have preferred to define 
and lead markets, rather than to be led. Executing on this
strength economically requires a careful balance of growth
with economic return. Our very solid performance on a 
cash flow basis speaks to this balance more strongly than 
any accounting measure of profit. We will continue to use
free cash flow as a barometer of our effective balance of
innovation and economic return.

We will continue to invest in the best people to create and
drive this focused innovation. CheckFree unquestionably has
the broadest – and deepest – base of knowledge and skills in
each of the markets in which we compete, as our Intellectual
Property portfolio reveals. Our definition of “best” is not
based on age or salary or even domain tenure. It is based on
that unique blend of knowledge, skills and an unceasing need
to always do things better the next time…and the next
time…and the next time…so that after 21 years we have
created innumerable advantages that will be hard for others
to duplicate or surpass. For the past two decades we set 
the bar for quality, performance and value in each market 
in which we compete. Our record of quality improvement
over the three-year tenure of our Sigma Quality program has
literally redefined the market in electronic billing and payment.
This record alone enables us to attract the kind of people
who want to push bars up continuously higher.
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It takes a person with a special understanding of the terms
“achievement” and “challenge” to work at CheckFree. We
have found over the years that people who view change,
the constant pressure of continuous improvement, and the 
obligation to lead as exciting challenges are the type of 
people who thrive at CheckFree. We work hard to seek 
out those people, and put them in positions where – as their
knowledge and skills develop – our culture continuously
pushes them hard to achieve more. I believe we have done
well through 2002 in acquiring and developing “CheckFree 
people” and our execution reflects this.

As we enter 2003, CheckFree is performing as we designed 
it to perform. Fiscal 2003 will be all about heightening that
performance even as we continue to innovate. We have ample
room within the increasing scale of the operating environ-
ment at CheckFree to continue to increase efficiency at a
rate that will enable us to lower our client customer costs
even as we increase our margins, and we have the room to
continue this pace for the foreseeable future. At the same
time, we will drive each of our businesses to continue to
invest in operational and product innovations that contribute
to bottom-line performance and extended market leadership.
Combined, we believe this increased efficiency and innovation
development will make it very difficult for any comparable
service to effectively compete with any of our three divisions.
Each will use every advantage to create further distance from
competitors. Each will work to translate these advantages
into improved shareholder returns.

My focus will be on aggressively driving our execution, and
carefully monitoring our markets – both for competitive
developments and for untapped opportunities – so we can
act with precision to optimize our strategic advantages.
CheckFree enjoys significant market leadership in each of 
our major market categories, and we believe strongly in the
advantages of being able to define markets as the leader

rather than waiting to react to market movement. We will
compete intelligently and leave to our competitors business
that is unprofitable or strategically unsound, but we will 
continue to compete fiercely to extend our leadership.

Most of my meetings with market analysts end with them
asking me in one form or another,“what should we watch for
in CheckFree’s performance over the next year in order to
know how well the company is performing?” Of course, most
of them have already made up their minds on what they are
going to watch, but here’s the real answer: Look to our ability
to increase bottom-line results as we decrease market costs.
In our overall market of “Financial Electronic Commerce,” 
we compete in a marketplace that involves recurring revenue
transaction processing within and among multiple networks,
combined with high value-add service infrastructure. We also
sell software that supports this type of transaction infrastruc-
ture. We refer to this combined expertise as Internetwork
Infrastructure. The key point is, we entered fiscal 2003 with 
a very powerful trend: We have used our infrastructure to
create economies of scale efficient enough to lower our
client user costs as we simultaneously increased our margins.
I have stated several times that we see enough increases in
both operational efficiency, as well as market growth, to 
continue this trend for the foreseeable future. I suggest that
if you track our results in this area, increasing bottom line
results as we decrease market costs, you will be tracking 
our strategy for success in continuing to lead and expand
these markets.

Pete Kight 
July 2002
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A Letter from President and COO Pete Sinisgalli

5

To CheckFree Shareholders:

Our focus in fiscal 2002 will remain our focus in
2003: defining, developing and delivering quality.

From our perspective,“quality” embraces more than 
operational accuracy and timeliness. It extends to the 
customer experiences we create. It ties to the breadth 
and depth of the content we deliver. It drives our market
development efforts. It leads our associates to identify 
and eradicate errors, without exception. It translates into
lower operating costs for us, so that we can, in turn, create
more pricing and service options for our customers as
they define for themselves the economic value of our
products and services.

By these and other measures, we delivered solid
performance in fiscal 2002. However, the year was
not without challenges.

Top-line growth in each of our divisions was softened 
by a tough economy. Portfolio growth in our Investment
Services division, transaction growth in our Electronic
Commerce division, and new biller signings in the 
i-Solutions unit of our Software division each were more
modest than in fiscal 2001. Consolidated revenues grew 
by 14% (on a pro-forma basis) compared to the 40%
growth we achieved in fiscal 2001.

Still, our intense focus on operational improvements, scale
leverage and efficiency optimization enabled us to outper-
form our earnings-per-share target despite these top-line
challenges. Moving from a loss-per-share of 18 cents in fiscal
2001 to positive earnings-per-share of 19 cents in fiscal
2002 (both on a pro-forma basis) represents meaningful
improvements in the operations of each of our divisions.

The Measure of Quality in Electronic Commerce

� Financial performance. Fiscal 2002 revenue was
$354.8 million, an 18% gain over fiscal 2001. This division
posted an operating profit of $39.0 million for the year,
compared with an operating loss of $13.1 million last
year, both on a pro forma basis. Revenue grew by 
$53 million for the year, and operating profit grew by
$52 million, on a pro forma basis, showing very strong 
operating leverage.

� Transaction volume. We processed 316 million 
transactions during the year, 36% more than in fiscal 
2001, and more than double the next two competitors 
combined. By year-end we processed 71% of these 
transactions electronically, compared to 64% at year-end 
in fiscal 2001. Electronic processing increases customer 
satisfaction and decreases costs by resulting in faster 
settlements and fewer customer inquiries.

� Consumer adoption. The number of consumers
enrolled to use electronic billing and payment through
CheckFree reached 6.6 million in fiscal 2002, compared
to 5.3 million in fiscal 2001, representing 25% growth
year-over-year.

� Flexible options for customers. We provide a fully 
integrated electronic billing and payment service for 
our customers, and also offer options for using portions
of this service depending on each customer’s 
business requirements.
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� Electronic billing and payment distribution sites.
The number of sites where consumers can both view and
pay bills nearly doubled this year, with 584 Consumer
Service Providers now offering both aspects, compared
with 300 at the end of last year.

� Bill distribution. Quarterly e-bills delivered nearly
tripled this year. In the fourth quarter, we delivered 
3.8 million e-bills compared to 1.3 million in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2001. This equates to exiting fiscal 2002
with a run rate of delivering 15.2 million bills per year,
compared to fiscal 2001’s exit run rate of 5.2 million 
bills per year.

� Bill content. 265 primary billers are under agreements
to use our services, and 207 different e-bills are currently
available online from these billers. Primary billers are
those that issue more than 100,000 bills per month.
In addition, 30 smaller billers make their bills available
online through our services, and we provide e-bills for
25 more bills whose content we copy from biller sites
with the consumer’s permission. This takes the total
number of different e-bills consumers can view and pay
today to 262, which is 27% growth over fiscal 2001.

� Operational accuracy. Our error rate – about .003 –
has consistently remained the lowest in the industry,
by far. Our CheckFree Guarantee ensures any errors
CheckFree makes are rectified to the consumer’s 
full satisfaction.

The Measure of Quality in Software

� Financial performance. Fiscal 2002 revenue was 
$58.8 million, a decline of 5% from last year, reflecting
the heavy impact the sluggish economy had on the 
i-Solutions unit of this division. Despite this top-line 
challenge, we made strong improvements in pro forma
operating income, logging $5.8 million for the year 
compared to $837,000 in fiscal 2001. While some of this
improvement came from re-sizing the i-Solutions unit 
to more accurately reflect market opportunity, we made
substantial improvements in efficiency across each of 
the units in this division.

� Direct and distribution options for billers, through
our i-Solutions business unit. This year i-Solutions
enhanced both its software and hosted solutions for
billers, whether they prefer to offer e-bills directly at
their own site, through CheckFree’s network of 584 dis-
tribution sites, or both. Both i-Series software and hosted
e-billing services provide end-to-end solutions for e-billing
and e-statement creation, delivery and payment. The 
i-Series Select options provide template-driven solutions
for specific industries, designed to lower costs and speed
implementations. Today, i-Solutions hosts the e-billing
sites for 84 different billers and partners with a number
of Biller Service Providers that use our i-Series software
as the basis of their offerings – making CheckFree the
largest “biller direct” provider in the market.6
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� Software and services for Automated Clearing House
processing through our ACH Services business unit.
This business unit continues to be the leading provider
of ACH software and services, and in fiscal 2002 was
among the small group of niche software players that
were not materially affected by economic pressures.
The ACH is the primary batch-oriented electronic funds
transfer system financial services organizations use to
move money among one another. More than 80 percent
of the nation’s top 50 ACH originators use our solutions
for ACH processing, and more than two-thirds of the
nation’s 8 billion ACH payments are processed each year
through institutions using our software systems.
Fourteen financial institutions use our Alliance Services,
which provides the systems and personnel to support
the ACH functions within the financial institution. This
year ACH Services introduced products that convert 
different types of paper items to electronic payments,
including returned checks, checks at the point-of-sale,
and checks sent to a financial institution lockbox.

� Reconciliation and compliance solutions, through
our Financial and Compliance Solutions (CFACS)
business unit. This business unit also was not materially
affected by the economy this year, signing a total of 42
contracts for its various reconciliation solutions and 13
contracts for its compliance systems during the year.
In the fourth quarter, this unit delivered the strongest 
revenue quarter in its history, led by solid reception for
RECON-Plus Frontier, our new high-end reconciliation
system that operates securely over the Internet.
RECON-Plus Frontier reconciles high volumes of 
complex transactions that are spread across multiple
enterprise-wide systems. These transactions can be 

related to securities transaction processing, automated
deposit verification, consolidated bank account recon-
ciliation and cash mobilization, and cash control, among
other things. With 600 customers overall – including
banks, bank holding companies, securities and insurance
firms, corporations and government agencies – this unit
continues to be the leading supplier of reconciliation 
and compliance systems.

� Global reach. Each of the three units in our Software
Division enjoys a global presence. Organizations using
CheckFree’s software solutions can be found in coun-
tries as diverse as Australia, Barbados, Canada, Chile,
Colombia, Dominican Republic, Guatemala, Jamaica,
Malaysia, Panama, Singapore and the United Kingdom.

The Measure of Quality in Investment Services

� Financial performance. Revenue growth in this unit
depends heavily on investor confidence and the opening
of new investment portfolios. Market conditions for
most of this fiscal year severely hampered operations for
many of our clients, and so, for us. Revenue for the year
was $79.6 million, which was 14% growth for the year,
compared to the more than 20% growth this unit has
consistently delivered for the past few years. However,
operating income was $24.4 million on a pro forma
basis, which is a 20% improvement year-over-year, and
reflects a tighter focus on process efficiencies.
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� Client retention and growth. Client satisfaction and
retention remained very strong in this division in fiscal
2002, and will be a core concentration in fiscal 2003.
More than 250 institutions – including 38 of the top 50
brokers and 36 of the top 40 money managers – trust
our services to deliver portfolio management, perform-
ance measurement and reporting services to their
clients. Our customers manage more than 1.2 million
portfolios and $500 billion in assets using our services.
During the year, this unit added 18 new clients to its 
APL processing services and sold 44 software licenses
for its M-Search software and 11 software licenses for 
its M-Watch software.

� New options for customers. Investment Services’ APL
Wrap is the leading solution for the separately managed
account sector, which a variety of analysts expect to
grow by more than 20 percent compounded annually
over the next five years or so. Our new offerings for
analyzing and managing Multiple Strategy Portfolios serve
the needs of this sector. Internet-enabling our services
and software has also added flexibility for our customers.
In fiscal 2003 we will accelerate our investment in this
unit to be fully prepared to take advantage of growth in
this sector when the overall investment market rebounds.

� Sigma Quality Best Practices. This year, our Investment
Services division began applying “best practices” for 
quality measurement and management learned in our
Electronic Commerce division. Programs for improving

data integrity and problem resolution have already begun,
and expanding these efforts will be a priority in fiscal
2003 as we fine tune our operations to balance services
and costs to deliver the best value for our customers.

Driving “No Exceptions” Performance 
in Fiscal 2003

Our mandate for fiscal 2003 is to continue to translate 
the investments we make in quality, innovation, scale 
and expertise into visibly improving shareholder returns.
Our plans are directed toward continuing to advance the 
position of each of our divisions as a market leader that
delivers efficient costs, unequaled quality, and innovation
tied to realized value.

Pete Sinisgalli
July 2002
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First Quarter 

� Hawaiian Electric Company has fully deployed CheckFree 
i-Utility software for EBP.

� Circle Trust Company selected CheckFree RECON Securities™ 
for daily securities and cash account reconciliation.

� AFLAC will use CheckFree APECS™ to automate abandoned 
property management and reporting.

� CheckFree i-Solutions announced new packaged software and 
hosting options for billers providing “out of the box”capabilities.

� Smartel, Italy’s major supplier of electronic payment systems,
will add CheckFree i-Series e-billing software to its POS and
smart card technology.

� Barclays Stockbrokers will use CheckFree APL to automate 
its Barclays Managed Account Program (BMAP).

� Fortis Health selected RECON-Plus™ for Windows® to
automate manual processes and support daily reconciliation for
its bank activity and general ledger accounts, and APECS™ to
ensure compliance with abandoned property reporting
requirements.

� 70 million Federated credit card customers can now receive
and pay their bills at their choice of CheckFree-powered sites.

� Allegiance Capital, Inc. will run approximately 1,400 separately
managed accounts on CheckFree APL.

� CheckFree launched CheckFree RECON Confirmations™,
enabling organizations to automatically match foreign exchange
confirmation advice messages.

� Dominion selects CheckFree i-Solutions’ complete suite of
software and payment services to enhance its existing EBP
initiative.

Second Quarter 

� Payment Processing, Inc. offers electronic payment processing
services through CheckFree EFT technology.

� Central Bank (Jefferson City, MO) selected the PEP+ Platinum
system and all modules to allow the origination and receipt of
electronic payments through the ACH system.

� CheckFree i-Solutions signed an agreement with epost, to 
deliver e-bills for Canada Post.

� Alliance Capital selected CheckFree RECON-Plus™ for
Windows® to automate processes and support daily
reconciliation across their international mutual funds
operations.

� CheckFree Corporation is awarded patent 6,289,322 by the
United States Patent & Trademark Office.

� Bank of America mortgage customers now receive and pay their
monthly mortgage statements electronically through CheckFree.

� Denver Water selects CheckFree to make EBP services available
to more than 200,000 households in the metropolitan Denver
area.

� ConEdison Solutions selects CheckFree to make EBP available
to its residential electricity and natural gas customers.

� Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston selects CheckFree
RECON-Plus™ for Windows® to automate manual processes.

� MONY Life Insurance Company selects CheckFree RECON-
Plus™ for Windows® to automate manual processes for 
policyholder services.

� BB&T selects CheckFree RECON-Plus™ for Windows® to 
support daily reconciliation for its general ledger operations.

� Southern California Water Company selects CheckFree to
make EBP available to more than one million water customers.

Third Quarter 

� Central Bank (Jefferson City, MO), has selected Returnworks,
Remitworks and MICRworks solutions for check conversion.

� Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan has selected CheckFree
RECON-Plus™ for Windows® to automate manual processes
for its check reconciliation activities.

� billbyclick, one of Austria’s fastest-growing Billing Service
Providers, is in full production with its e-billing software
platform powered by CheckFree i-Series software.

� MFS Investment Management® has chosen CheckFree RECON
Securities® automated reconciliation software to reconcile its 
position, detail and cash reconciliation processes.

� Whitney National Bank announced that it has incorporated
CheckFree’s WebPay for Small Business service.

� More than 500,000 Wisconsin Public Service and Upper
Peninsula Power customers can now receive and pay bills at
their choice of CheckFree-powered Web sites.

� First PREMIER Bank (Sioux Falls, SD) selected Returnworks and
Remitworks solutions for lockbox check conversion and
returns processing.

� CheckFree signed a multi-year contract extension with Intuit 
to provide EBP services to Intuit’s Quicken® and QuickBooks®

customers.
� Progress® Energy Inc. selected CheckFree RECON-Plus™ for 

Windows to automate the reconciliation of various bank
accounts across multiple companies.

Fourth Quarter 

� CFACS and The Weiland Financial Group Inc. announced a 
business alliance to cooperatively market their software 
applications.

� Nearly four million Southern Company customers now 
have fully interactive EBP services available to them through
CheckFree i-Solutions’ complete suite of EBP software 
and services.

� CheckFree announced the availability of WebPay for Small
Business 3.2, a feature-rich new version of its small business
offering.

� The Huntington National Bank selected CheckFree ARP/SMS to
update its account reconciliation processes.

� Wells Fargo and CheckFree signed contract for online banking,
EBP processing service.

� CheckFree Health & Fitness introduced the CheckFree e-Touch
Point-of-sale System.

� SEI Investments utilizes CheckFree RECON Securities® to
automate reconciliation processes.
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Statement of Operations:
Revenues:

Processing and servicing
License fees
Maintenance fees
Other

Total revenues

Expenses:
Cost of processing, servicing and support
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
In-process research and development
Impairment of intangible assets
Reorganization charge
Charge for stock warrants
Exclusivity amortization

Total expenses
Net gain on dispositions of assets
Loss from operations
Interest:

Income
Expense

Loss on investments
Loss before income tax
Income tax benefit
Net income (loss)

Diluted income (loss) per common share
Equivalent number of shares outstanding 

Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital
Total assets
Long-term obligations, less current portion
Total stockholders’ equity

Selected Financial Data

The selected consolidated financial data for the years ended
June 30, 2000, 2001 and 2002 have been derived from the
Company’s financial statements included elsewhere in this
Annual Report which have been audited by Deloitte and
Touche, LLP, independent certified public accountants, whose
report thereon is also included elsewhere in this Annual
Report. The selected consolidated financial data for the years
ended June 30, 1998 and 1999 have been derived from audited
financial statements of the Company which are not included 
in this Annual Report. The selected consolidated financial 
data set forth below should be read in conjunction with
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations and the Consolidated Financial
Statements and Notes thereto elsewhere in this Annual Report.
The financial information for the periods presented below
includes all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of
results of operations.
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1998 1999 2000 2001 2002

$   159,255 $   201,059 $   261,621 $   362,051 $   422,237
28,952 15,975 16,818 30,180 25,020
25,848 17,746 18,752 21,332 24,298
19,809 15,351 13,004 19,757 18,922

233,864 250,131 310,195 433,320 490,477

129,924 146,704 182,540 255,528 262,105
36,265 21,085 35,631 55,621 55,172
28,839 32,354 44,782 90,283 58,030
20,677 31,466 40,931 50,474 43,687
24,999 24,630 42,830 427,495 435,565

719 2,201 6,900 18,600 -
- - - - 155,072
- - - - 16,365

32,827 - - - -
2,963 - - - -

277,213 258,440 353,614 898,001 1,025,996
36,173 4,576 - - -
(7,176) (3,733) (43,419) (464,681) (535,519)

3,464 2,799 7,689 15,415 8,486
(632) (618) (8,027) (13,154) (12,788)

- - - (16,077) -
(4,344) (1,552) (43,757) (478,497) (539,821)

(641) (12,009) (11,437) (115,362) (98,871)
$ (3,703) $     10,457 $ (32,320) $ (363,135) $  (440,950)

$ (0.07) $     0.18 $    (0.61) $     (4.49) $       (5.04)
55,087 56,529 53,367 80,863 87,452

$     78,238 $     24,245 $   178,761 $   142,661 $   201,741
250,112 252,761 713,114 2,183,953 1,637,477

6,467 3,882 173,236 176,541 175,316
$ 183,854 $ 186,903 $   445,894 $ 1,732,186 $ 1,305,661

Year ended June 30,

(In thousands, except per-share data)



Overview

CheckFree was founded in 1981 as an electronic payment processing company and has become a leading provider 
of financial electronic commerce products and services. Our current business was developed through the expansion of our
core electronic payments business and the acquisition of companies operating in similar or complementary businesses.

We operate our business through three independent but inter-related divisions:

� Electronic Commerce;
� Investment Services; and
� Software.

Through our Electronic Commerce division, we enable consumers to receive and pay bills electronically. For the year
ended June 30, 2002, we processed approximately 316 million electronic transactions. For the quarter ended June 30, 2002, we
processed approximately 87 million electronic payments and delivered approximately 3.8 million electronic bills. As of June 30,
2002, over 6.6 million consumers were enabled to use our systems, with a large majority of these consumers accessing our
services via the Internet using their own personal computer. The number of transactions we process each year continues to
grow. For the year ended June 30, 2002, growth in the number of transactions processed exceeded 36%. The Electronic
Commerce division accounted for approximately 72% of our fiscal 2002 revenue.

Our Electronic Commerce division’s products allow consumers to:

� receive electronic bills through the Internet;
� pay any bill – whether it arrives over the Internet or through traditional mail – to anyone;
� make payments not related to bills – to anyone; and
� perform customary banking transactions, including balance inquiries, transfers between accounts and online 

statement reconciliations.

The majority of consumers using our services access our system through Consumer Service Providers (CSPs).
CSPs are companies, such as banks, brokerage firms, Internet portals and content sites, Internet-based banks, Internet financial
sites and personal financial management software providers, that use our products to enable consumers to receive and/or 
pay bills electronically. We have relationships with hundreds of CSPs. Some of our largest CSPs, as determined by type of CSP
and number of consumers using our products, are Bank of America, Bank One, Charles Schwab & Co., Chase Manhattan Bank,
Merrill Lynch & Co., SunTrust, U.S. Postal Service,Wachovia,Wells Fargo and Yahoo!. This list of our CSPs is not exhaustive and
may not fully represent our customer base.

We have developed our own open infrastructure, known as Genesis, to process electronic bills and payments. The
Genesis system is accessed by CSPs using various Web-based applications. In March 2001, we introduced our latest application
for electronic billing and payments – “WebPay for Consumers” (or WebPay 3.2), which added to our core product the ability 
for consumers to receive and pay e-bills over e-mail and to exchange money with each other using e-mail “invitations” to
receive money. WebPay 3.2 helps consumers automate the complete process of viewing and paying bills – they can receive bills
online and pay those bills online, too. WebPay 3.2 also allows the consumer to “Pay Anyone” – from a child in college, to a lawn
care or other service provider, to a friend, electronically, using the Genesis system. The number of sites where consumers can
both view and pay bills doubled in 2002, with 584 CSPs now offering full electronic billing and payment.

Through our Investment Services division, we provide a range of outsourced portfolio management services to 
help more than 250 institutions deliver portfolio management, performance measurement and reporting services to their
clients. As of June 30, 2002, our clients used the CheckFree APL Portfolio Accounting System to manage about 1.2 million
portfolios totaling more than $500 billion in assets. The Investment Services division accounted for approximately 16% of our
fiscal 2002 revenue.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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Our institutional client base includes investment advisors, brokerage firms, banks and insurance companies. Our 
fee-based money manager clients are typically sponsors or managers of “wrap” or separately managed accounts, money
management products, or traditional money managers, managing investments of institutions and high net worth individuals.

Our portfolio management systems are marketed under the product names APL, and provide the following functions:

� account open and trading capabilities;
� graphical client reporting;
� performance measurement;
� decision support tools;
� account analytics;
� tax lot accounting;
� manager due diligence;
� multiple strategy portfolios;
� straight through processing;
� Depository Trust Corporation interfacing;
� billing functions; and
� system and data security.

In addition to our APL and APL Wrap portfolio management products, our Investment Services division also offers
investment performance and reporting products and services. Marketed under M-Search and M-Watch, these products are a
result of the acquisition of Mobius Group, Inc. in March 1999.

Through our Software division, we deliver software, maintenance, support and professional services to large financial
service providers and other companies across a range of industries. The Software division is comprised of three units, each 
with its own distinct set of software products. The ACH Solutions unit provides software and services that are used to process
more than two-thirds of the nation’s eight billion Automated Clearing House (ACH) payments. The CheckFree Financial and
Compliance Solutions (CFACS) unit enables organizations to handle their reconciliation and compliance requirements. The 
i-Solutions unit provides software and services that enable end-to-end e-billing and e-statement creation, delivery and payment.
The Software division accounted for approximately 12% of our fiscal 2002 revenue.

ACH Solutions. Our ACH Solutions unit provides ACH software and services. ACH is the primary batch-oriented
electronic funds transfer system financial services organizations use to move funds electronically through the banking system.
More than 80 percent of the nation’s top 50 ACH originators use our solutions for ACH processing and more than two-thirds
of the nation’s eight billion ACH payments are processed each year through institutions using our software systems. In addition
to the United States, we have provided electronic payment technology in Australia, Barbados, Chile, Colombia, Dominican
Republic, Guatemala, Jamaica, Malaysia, and Panama.

ACH Solutions markets software under the product name PEP+ (Paperless Entry Processing System). PEP+ is an
online, real-time system that enables the originating and receiving of payments through the ACH system. These electronic
transactions are substitutes for paper checks, and are typically used for recurring payments like direct deposit payroll payments
and corporate payments to contractors and vendors, debit transfers that consumers make to pay insurance premiums,
mortgages, loans and other bills, and business-to-business payments. Recent new ACH product types allow returned checks,
checks at the point-of-sale, and checks sent to a lockbox to be converted to electronic payments.

CheckFree Financial and Compliance Solutions. Our CFACS unit provides software and professional 
services that enable all types of organizations to perform automated reconciliation and maintain compliance with federal and
state regulations. Banks, bank holding companies, securities and insurance firms, corporations and government agencies use 
our reconciliation and compliance products and services. Our reconciliation solutions are marketed under the CheckFree
RECON-Plus™ brand. These systems reconcile high volumes of complex transactions that are spread across multiple
enterprise-wide systems and include securities transaction processing, automated deposit verification, consolidated bank 
account reconciliation and cash mobilization and improved cash control. In fiscal 2002 we completed development of 
RECON-Plus Frontier™, a multi-tier reconciliation system that operates over the Internet.



CheckFree RECON Securities™ enables securities firms to automatically match intra-day transactions, generate
affirmations, facilitate settlement and reconcile cash and securities transactions at both the omnibus, or collective and
shareholder level. In addition to reconciliation, CFACS delivers automated regulatory tracking and reporting solutions that 
help organizations maintain compliance. The CFACS compliance products provide compliance with (1) unclaimed property
management, (2) 1099 reporting, (3) fraud detection, (4) the Bank Secrecy Act and (5) retirement reporting.

i-Solutions. Our i-Solutions unit provides end-to-end business-to-consumer and business-to-business software and
services for e-billing and e-statement creation, delivery and payment. i-Solutions helps billers, financial services organizations and
biller service providers leverage electronic bills and statements as interactive conduits to customer relationship management,
marketing and customer self-service applications.

i-Solutions enables billers to create online bills and statements and distribute them to their customers for viewing
and payment. Online bills can be delivered to the biller’s customers through any or all of the following options: through our
network of CSPs; directly at the biller’s Web site; through e-mail; and through our Web site MyCheckFree.com, which are
serviced through our Electronic Commerce division. Our software and outsourced application hosting services deliver: e-bill
and e-statement creation; e-bill and e-statement delivery; e-bill payment transaction management and security; e-bill payment
tracking and history; online marketing from the biller to its customers; and customer care.

i-Solutions markets the i-Series product line, which is a set of e-billing and e-statement software solutions developed
for various industry segments. Each product in the i-Series includes a template for creating e-bills and e-statements unique to a
specific industry segment, reducing development and deployment time. These solutions are offered in both licensed and outsourced
application service provider (ASP) agreements. Given the nature of the process we use to convert billing and/or statement
information for use over the Internet, these products are equally marketable in international markets as well. i-Solutions
software has been sold in 23 countries.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth as percentages of total operating revenues, certain consolidated statements of
operations data:

Year ended June 30,
2000 2001 2002

Total revenues 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Expenses:

Cost of processing, servicing and support 58.8 59.0 53.4
Research and development 11.5 12.8 11.3
Sales and marketing 14.4 20.8 11.8
General and administrative 13.2 11.7 8.9
Depreciation and amortization 13.8 98.7 88.8
In-process research and development 2.2 4.3 -
Impairment of intangible assets - - 31.6
Reorganization charge - - 3.3

Total expenses 114.0 207.2 209.2
Loss from operations (14.0) (107.2) (109.2)
Interest:

Interest income 0.2 3.6 1.7
Interest expense (0.3) (3.1) (2.6)

Loss on investments - (3.7) -
Loss before income taxes (14.1) (110.4) (110.1)
Income tax benefit (3.7) (26.6) (20.2)
Net loss (10.4)% (83.8)% (89.9)%

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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Years ended June 30, 2001 and 2002

Revenues. Our total revenue increased by 13%, from $433.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2001 to $490.5
million for the year ended June 30, 2002. Total company revenue growth was driven by 17% growth in our Electronic Commerce
business and 14% growth in our Investment Services business, offset by a 5% decline in our Software business. Growth in
Electronic Commerce revenue is driven primarily by growth in our subscriber base from just over 5.2 million at June 30, 2001,
to over 6.6 million at June 30, 2002, and by growth in total transactions processed from 231 million for the year ended June 30,
2001, to over 316 million for the year ended June 30, 2002. The impact of growth in subscribers and transactions processed is
offset by a decline in revenue from interest rate sensitive products, such as our account balance transfer product, caused by
significant decreases in interest rates from last year. In October 1999, we entered into an agreement with a third party in which
we issued warrants on one million shares of our stock, exercisable on September 15, 2002, contingent upon maintaining the
existence of our agreement through that date. During the quarter ended June 30, 2002, we recorded a non-cash charge of $2.7
million against revenue resulting from the probable vesting of those warrants to the third party.

Growth in Investment Services is driven primarily by an increase in portfolios managed from over 1.1 million at 
June 30, 2001 to about 1.2 million at June 30, 2002, offset by industry consolidations which resulted in the loss of over 
0.1 million portfolios over the past year. The majority of these portfolios processed at a lower price point than average, based
on the service level provided, resulting in a reduced negative impact. Also, in the quarter ended March 31, 2002, we announced
the elimination of certain of our financial planning software products within Investment Services, resulting in a modest decrease
in revenue as the product line was in existence the full year in 2001 and less than three quarters of the year in 2002. As a 
result of the difficult stock market conditions since late September 2001, portfolio growth has slowed significantly, and we
remain short of historic growth rates in this part of our business. Due also to poor economic conditions in fiscal 2002, we 
have experienced a decline in revenue in our Software business on a year over year basis. Although revenue from our more
mature ACH processing and Reconciliation products has remained relatively stable, sales of our i-Solutions electronic billing 
and statement software have been lower than expected as the recession continues.

Across all segments of our business, for the year ended June 30, 2002, Bank of America generated total revenue of
$60.0 million, which represents in excess of 10% of our total revenue, and they remain the only customer that exceeds 10% 
of our total revenue. Because they own approximately ten million shares of our stock, Bank of America is considered a related
party. The ten-year term of our agreement, which includes annual minimum revenue guarantees of $50 million, is at least twice
the length of a typical agreement. We established subscriber-based pricing at contract execution, which is competitive with
pricing we offer to our other customers, based on the volumes of activity provided by Bank of America.

Our processing and servicing revenue increased by $60.2 million, or 17%, from $362.1 million for the year ended 
June 30, 2001, to $422.2 million for the year ended June 30, 2002. Processing and servicing revenue occurs in both our
Electronic Commerce and Investment Services businesses. Within Electronic Commerce, growth in underlying processing and
servicing revenue is driven by the previously mentioned growth in subscribers and transactions. Our acquisition of TransPoint 
in September 2000 included a five-year strategic agreement with Microsoft and a five-year marketing agreement with First Data
Corporation, each of which includes minimum quarterly revenue guarantees, as does our ten-year strategic agreement with
Bank of America. Through June 30, 2002, the agreements with Microsoft and First Data are operating below the minimum
guarantee level. The Bank of America contract operated under minimums until the December 31, 2001 quarter. As a result of
these minimum guarantees, overall subscriber-based revenue correlates less directly with subscriber growth. Additionally, we
processed over 1.3 million electronic bills in the month ended June 30, 2002, which is a significant increase from the 1.1 million
electronic bills processed in the month ended March 31, 2002, and the 500,000 electronic bills processed in the month ended
June 30, 2001. This growth is offset by a decline in revenue from interest rate sensitive products and the previously mentioned
$2.7 million non-cash charge we recorded against revenue related to warrants we issued to a third party in 1999. One of 
our larger customers recently announced plans to utilize “in house” technologies to build and manage the electronic billing 
and payment user interface and payment warehouse requirements of their customer base. While this will result in less use 
of our services, and a reduction of quarterly processing and servicing revenue of approximately $2.0 million starting in the
quarter ended September 30, 2002, the payment processing only service they will utilize will cost us less to operate, and we
therefore believe this will have little impact on our operating income over time. Over the past two years, we have been 
offering a transaction-based pricing model (versus subscriber-based) primarily to our largest customers, and when combined



with strategic agreements operating below minimum quarterly revenue thresholds, an increasing number of electronic bills
presented, and new product offerings, such as person-to-person payments, it has become increasingly more difficult to correlate
revenue solely to the number of subscribers, with transactions processed becoming a more relevant revenue indicator. As a
result, we have identified new revenue indicators to use as our business continues to evolve. As these indicators relate solely to
our Electronic Commerce business, we have included a table of relevant historic indicators later in the Segment Information
section of this analysis. Growth in processing and servicing revenue is also impacted by the previously mentioned growth in
portfolios managed in our Investment Services business.

Our license fee revenue decreased by $5.2 million, or 17%, from $30.2 million for the year ended June 30, 2001,
to $25.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2002. License revenue is isolated to our Software business. License sales have
dropped off during the recessionary period that began toward the end of fiscal 2001 and has continued throughout fiscal 2002.
While sales in our more mature ACH processing and Reconciliation software products have remained fairly stable, sales of our
i-Solutions electronic billing and statement software have continued to fall short of our expectations during this difficult period.
The reduction in expected license sales in our i-Solutions business unit has resulted in our recording an impairment charge
relative to the intangible assets we recorded as part of our acquisition of BlueGill. The charge is explained in the paragraph
labeled Impairment of Intangible Assets later in this analysis. As software purchases are typically seen as investment spending 
by our customers, we believe that the environment for software license sales will continue to be challenging until economic
conditions improve, particularly for products early in their life cycle, such as our i-Solutions offerings.

Our maintenance fee revenue increased by $3.0 million, or 14%, from $21.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2001
to $24.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2002. Maintenance revenue is isolated to our Software business. Maintenance
represents annually renewable product support for our software customers, which tends to grow with incremental software
license sales from the last four quarters, combined with annual retention rates of existing customers that exceed 80% across 
all product lines. Although software sales have declined on a year over year basis, because of the annuity effect of a renewing
customer base, we have continued to experience growth in maintenance revenue. Pricing has not had a material impact on
maintenance revenue growth.

Our other revenue, which consists mostly of consulting and implementation fees across all three of our businesses,
decreased by $0.8 million, or 4%, from $19.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2001 to $18.9 million for the year ended 
June 30, 2002. The decline in other revenue is the combined result of lower biller implementation fees in our Electronic
Commerce business, lower software implementation engagements from lower software sales in our Software business and
lower implementation and custom reporting fees in our Investment Services business.

Cost of Processing, Servicing and Support. Our cost of processing, servicing and support was $255.5 million,
or 59.0% of total revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2001, and was $262.1 million, or 53.4% of total revenue, for the year
ended June 30, 2002. Cost of processing, servicing and support, as a percentage of processing only revenue (total revenue less
license fees), was 63.4% for the year ended June 30, 2001 versus 56.3% for the year ended June 30, 2002. We continue to
achieve improved efficiency and processing quality within our Genesis processing platform in our Electronic Commerce business.
Our ratio of electronic payments to total payments has improved from 64% at June 30, 2001 to over 71% at June 30, 2002.
Electronic payments carry a significantly lower variable cost per unit than paper-based payments and are far less likely to result
in a costly customer inquiry or claim. The full underlying impact of improved efficiency and quality, however, is not readily
apparent in these results. We acquired TransPoint in September 2000 and the electronic billing and payment assets of Bank of
America in October 2000. As a result of these transactions, we supported two additional billing and payment platforms for
much of the year ended June 30, 2001 and one additional platform through March 31, 2002 as we worked to migrate subscribers
and billers over to Genesis. The acquired platforms were less efficient than our Genesis processing platform, and therefore
much more expensive to operate. As an example, during fiscal 2002 alone, we incurred approximately $18.0 million in costs 
paid to Bank of America for their support of the Bank of America West processing platform during the conversion process.
We completed the conversion of the TransPoint subscribers and billers onto our Genesis platform in the quarter ended June
30, 2001. We completed the conversion of a portion of the Bank of America East operations in the quarter ended March 31,
2001, which included subscribers in Georgia,Tennessee, Florida, Missouri,Arkansas, Iowa, Kansas,Arizona, New Mexico, North
Carolina, South Carolina,Virginia, Maryland and the District of Columbia. We completed the conversion of the remainder of the
Bank of America subscribers, referred to as Bank of America West, to Genesis in the quarter ended December 31, 2001. After
resolving the backlog of open customer care inquiry and claims during the quarter ended March 31, 2002, we retired the Bank
of America processing platform and were no longer required to reimburse Bank of America for running the platform on our
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behalf. Additionally, we have migrated all but a few CSPs off of our Austin processing platform and have relocated the remaining
technologies to our Norcross, Georgia facility. We expect to fully retire the Austin platform in the quarter ended September 30,
2002. As a result of these retirements, we closed our San Francisco customer care facility effective April 30, 2002, our Houston
customer care facility effective June 30, 2002, and will close our Austin office by September 30, 2002. The retirement of the
Bank of America platform and the resulting closing of the San Francisco, Houston and Austin offices resulted in a recurring 
reduction in our quarterly processing cost of almost $5.0 million beginning in the quarter ended June 30, 2002 and increasing 
to approximately $6.0 million in the quarter ended September 30, 2002. The net impact of the above programs and actions
resulted in a decrease of over 20% in our direct cost per transaction processed in the year ended June 30, 2002. Refer to the
Reorganization Charge paragraph below and Note 17 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements within this report for
further information regarding the one-time charge we recorded as a result of the reorganization actions.

Research and Development. Our research and development costs were $55.6 million, or 12.8% of total revenue,
for the year ended June 30, 2001, and $55.2 million, or 11.3% of total revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2002. Adjusted for
capitalized development costs, our gross research and development costs were $60.5 million, or 14% of total revenue, for the
year ended June 30, 2001, and $59.6 million, or 12.2% of total revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2002. During fiscal years
2000 and 2001, we invested heavily in research and development activities to enhance our product offerings and further
distance ourselves from our competition. We have continued to invest consistently in research and development activities 
on a gross dollar basis in all of our business segments during fiscal 2002 in anticipation and support of revenue growth, quality
enhancement and efficiency improvement opportunities. On March 19, 2002, we announced a company reorganization that
resulted in a reduction in workforce that impacted all areas of the company, including research and development. As a result,
we expect our quarterly costs to be reduced on an absolute dollar basis, but anticipate continuing to invest significantly in
research and development activities.

Sales and Marketing. Our sales and marketing costs were $90.3 million, or 20.8% of total revenue, for the year 
ended June 30, 2001, and were $58.0 million, or 11.8% of total revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2002. The terms of our
strategic agreement with Bank of America in October 2000 called for us to provide $25.0 million toward a two year, $45.0
million marketing campaign to be administered by Bank of America. Because we had no direct influence or control over the
specific nature, timing or extent of the use of funds, we expensed the $25.0 million as a period cost in the quarter ended
December 31, 2000. Net of this one-time charge, sales and marketing costs were $65.3 million, or 15.1% of total revenue, for
the year ended June 30, 2001. Current year commission expenses are lower than prior year due to lower overall software sales
and lower biller signings than in the prior year. We reduced the number of i-Solutions sales and marketing staff in the quarter
ended June 30, 2001 and sales and marketing staff across the company were also impacted by the reduction in force announced
on March 19, 2002. Because our electronic billing and payment services are offered as a private labeled service through our
bank customers, we do not incur the cost of direct advertising and promotion campaigns. However, our existing marketing 
staff continues to provide assistance to our consumer service provider customers in identifying best practice programs that 
are successful in driving increased subscriber adoption and activation. We will continue to provide marketing assistance to 
our customers, and with the exception of seasonal fluctuations in commissions related to software sales, we expect sales and
marketing expenses to remain fairly consistent on a going forward basis.

General and Administrative. Our general and administrative costs were $50.5 million, or 11.7% of total revenue,
for the year ended June 30, 2001, and were $43.7 million, or 8.9% of total revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2002. Our
general and administrative costs as a percentage of revenue continue to decline due to leverage inherent in our business 
model and efforts to curtail discretionary spending in a recessionary economy throughout fiscal 2002. Because we have
managed general and administrative expenses down on an ongoing basis through attrition in related areas, we do not expect
further material declines as a result of the March 19, 2002 reduction in force previously mentioned.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization costs increased from $427.5 million for the year
ended June 30, 2001 to $435.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2002. The significant depreciation and amortization costs
relative to the other costs of our business are composed primarily of amortization expenses related to the intangible assets we
recorded as a result of the acquisition of BlueGill Technologies in April 2000, the acquisition of TransPoint in September 2000,
and our purchase of the electronic billing and payment assets of Bank of America in October 2000. Net of intangible amortization
from acquisitions, our depreciation costs related primarily to fixed assets used in ongoing operations, increased from $34.1
million for the year ended June 30, 2001 to $41.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2002. The increase in fixed asset depreciation
is the result of continued capital spending for data processing equipment, related software, and facility improvements in support



of the continued growth of the business. As a result of our decision to close our San Francisco, Houston and Austin offices, we
have certain fixed assets that have no future use to us, and we accelerated the remaining depreciation on those assets to reduce
their book value to zero to reflect the timing of the office closings and their resulting shorter useful life. As a result of our
adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 142,“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” on July 1, 2002,
we will no longer amortize goodwill and we expect our quarterly depreciation and amortization cost to be reduced by
approximately $41.8 million.

In-Process Research and Development. In the three months ended September 30, 2000, we incurred $18.6
million of in-process research and development costs in relation to our acquisition of TransPoint. For a detailed discussion of
this charge, please refer to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our June 30, 2001 Annual Report.

Impairment of Intangible Assets. In the quarter ended December 31, 2001, we recorded charges totaling $155.1
million for the impairment of intangible assets. This was the combined result of a charge of $107.4 million for the impairment of
goodwill associated with our acquisition of BlueGill Technologies in April 2000 (currently referred to as CheckFree i-Solutions),
and of $47.7 million for the retirement of certain technology assets we acquired from TransPoint in September 2000.

Upon successful integration of BlueGill Technologies into the operations of our Software business, during fiscal 2001,
we anticipated continued rapid growth in software license sales for fiscal 2002. We saw a drop off in demand for electronic
billing software during the quarter ended September 30, 2001; however, we did not believe this would impact our longer-term
expectations for this product line and, therefore, we determined there was no indicator of possible impairment at that time.
When sales continued to be depressed in the quarter ended December 31, 2001, we viewed this as a triggering event that
required evaluation of possible impairment per the guidelines of SFAS 121,“Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived 
Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of.” Our tests relative to the total tangible and intangible assets related to 
the i-Solutions product line revealed that the assets were in fact impaired. This analysis resulted in a charge of $107.4 million 
to write down the value of goodwill related to the acquisition of BlueGill.

As part of the acquisition of TransPoint in September 2000, we were required to maintain the TransPoint technology
for up to three years for any customer that wished to remain on the system. When valuing the TransPoint assets, we established
an intangible asset for current technology and assigned it a three-year life. We have migrated all of the subscribers, billers and
consumer service providers to our Genesis platform and the last of our international partners gave notice of their intention to
cancel their maintenance agreement with us during the December 2001 quarter. Additionally, we recently concluded that certain
components of the TransPoint technology were not compatible with current or future initiatives. We viewed these as triggering
events that required the evaluation of possible impairment per SFAS 121. Our overall testing indicated that there was no
impairment of the TransPoint assets in general; however, we then evaluated SFAS 121 requirements related to the retirement 
of assets and identified two technologies, delivery applications and payment interface, for which we have no future use. In the
quarter ended December 31, 2001, we retired these two technologies, resulting in a charge of $47.7 million.

Reorganizaton Charge. In January 2002, we announced our plans to close our customer care facility in San
Francisco, effective April 30, 2002, which resulted in the termination of employees at that facility. At that time, we also announced
our intent to eliminate certain of our financial planning products within our Investment Services division, which also resulted in
a small reduction of employees in our Raleigh, North Carolina office. On March 19, 2002, we further announced the closing of
our Houston and Austin,Texas offices and a net reduction in force totaling about 450 employees. As a result of these actions,
we have incurred a charge of $15.9 million in the quarter ended March 31, 2002 and an additional true up charge of $0.5 million
in the quarter ended June 30, 2002, consisting primarily of severance and related employee benefits and lease termination 
fees. We accounted for these actions in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) abstract number 94-3,“Liability
Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity.” For further details relating to 
this charge, please refer to Note 17 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Interest. Net interest decreased from net interest income of $2.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2001 to net
interest expense of $4.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2002. Net interest is composed of interest income, offset by
interest expense.
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Interest income decreased from $15.4 million for the year ended June 30, 2001 to $8.5 million for the year ended
June 30, 2002. The decrease is a result of the combined effect of a decrease in our average annual yield, offset by an increase in
our average invested assets of $34.1 million.

Interest expense declined from $13.2 million for the year ended June 30, 2001 to $12.8 million for the year ended
June 30, 2002. The decrease is due to a modest drop in average interest rates combined with a reduction in our average
outstanding debt and other long-term obligations of approximately $0.3 million. Note that the interest rate on our $172.5
million convertible debt balance is fixed at 6.5% and this debt has remained in place throughout fiscal 2001and fiscal 2002.

Loss on Investments. Due to overall market conditions, certain of our investments incurred an “other than
temporary” decline in market value. As a result, in the year ended June 30, 2001, we recorded charges of $16.1 million to
appropriately reflect the decline in value of these investments. No additional charge was required in the year ended 
June 30, 2002.

Income Taxes. We recorded an income tax benefit of $115.4 million, at an effective rate of 24.1%, for the year
ended June 30, 2001, and an income tax benefit of $98.9 million, at an effective rate of 18.3%, for the year ended June 30, 2002.
The reported effective rates differ from the blended statutory rate of 40% in all periods due to certain non-deductible goodwill
amortization, impairment charges related to goodwill, non-deductible in-process research and development expenses and other
non-deductible expenses, offset somewhat by eligible tax credits.

Years Ended June 30, 2000 and 2001

Revenues. Our total revenue increased by 40%, from $310.2 million for the year ended June 30, 2000 to $433.3
million for the year ended June 30, 2001. The increase in revenue resulted from the acquisition of BlueGill in April 2000, the
acquisition of TransPoint in September 2000, our strategic alliance with Bank of America in October 2000, and underlying
revenue growth in the mid 20% range on a year over year basis. Overall revenue growth was driven primarily by an increase 
in subscribers in our Electronic Commerce business from 3.5 million at June 30, 2000 to just over 5.2 million at June 30, 2001 
(0.3 million of which were added from Bank of America in October 2000), an increase in portfolios managed in our Investment
Services business from approximately 950,000 at June 30, 2000 to over 1.1 million at June 30, 2001, and incremental revenue
from the BlueGill acquisition in our Software business.

Our processing and servicing revenue increased by 38%, from $261.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2000 to
$362.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2001. Net of the incremental revenue from the previously mentioned agreements,
underlying growth in processing and servicing revenue increased by 25% on a year over year basis. Growth in underlying
processing and servicing revenue was driven by the previously mentioned growth in subscribers in our Electronic Commerce
business and portfolios managed in our Investment Services business. Additionally, we had 173 billers in production, including 
30 that were added through the TransPoint acquisition, that presented nearly 500,000 bills in the month ended June 30, 2001.
This was an increase from the 93 billers that presented about 94,000 bills in June 2000. In the month ended June 30, 2001,
we processed over 22 million transactions, an increase of 38% compared to the 16 million transactions we processed in the
month of June 2000.

Our license fee revenue increased by 79%, from $16.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2000 to $30.2 million for
the year ended June 30, 2001. Growth in license revenue was primarily attributable to new revenue resulting from our acquisition
of BlueGill in April 2000. We achieved modest license revenue growth in the mid single digit range from our more mature
software product lines in the year ended June 30, 2001.

Our maintenance revenue increased by 14%, from $18.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2000 to $21.3 million for
the year ended June 30, 2001. We achieved modest increases in maintenance revenue as a result of our acquisition of BlueGill.
This line of billing software, however, was new and related annual maintenance revenue was just beginning to grow as customers
completed their initial maintenance period and we began to establish a renewal maintenance base. Additionally, at the start of
fiscal 2001, we modified our maintenance revenue recognition policy. While we continue to recognize maintenance revenue
ratably over the related service period, we delay the onset of revenue recognition until cash is received, as opposed to estimating



renewals in advance of cash receipt. This change caused some initial timing differences between the quarters ended September
30, 2000 and December 31, 2000, but did not significantly impact quarterly revenue since then. Customer retention rates in our
more mature businesses exceeded 80% and price increases did not have a material impact on maintenance revenue in the year
ended June 30, 2001.

Our other revenue increased by 52%, from $13.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2000 to $19.8 million for 
the year ended June 30, 2001. Increased consulting fees resulting from our BlueGill acquisition and increases related to biller
implementations in our Electronic Commerce business drove growth in other revenue. We placed 50 additional billers into
production in the year ended June 30, 2001, bringing our total to 173.

Cost of processing, servicing and support. Our cost of processing, servicing and support was $182.5 million, or
58.8% of total revenue for the year ended June 30, 2000, and was $255.5 million, or 59.0% of total revenue for the year ended
June 30, 2001. Cost of processing, servicing and support as a percentage of servicing only revenue (total revenue less license
fees) was 62.2% for the year ended June 30, 2000, and 63.4% for the year ended June 30, 2001. As previously mentioned, we
acquired TransPoint in September 2000 and the electronic billing and payment assets of Bank of America in October 2000. As a
result of these transactions, we supported two additional billing and payment-processing platforms for much of the year ended
June 30, 2001. Although expected, this resulted in an increase in our cost of processing as a percentage of servicing only
revenue, as the acquired platforms were less efficient than our Genesis processing platform. We completed the conversion of
TransPoint subscribers and billers to the Genesis processing platform in the quarter ended June 30, 2001. We completed the
conversion of a portion of the Bank of America East operations in the quarter ended March 31, 2001, which included
subscribers in Georgia,Tennessee, Florida, Missouri,Arkansas, Iowa, Kansas, Arizona, New Mexico, North Carolina, South
Carolina,Virginia, Maryland, and the District of Columbia. Somewhat masked by less efficient incremental costs resulting from
TransPoint and Bank of America were the underlying improvements in efficiency and processing quality within Genesis. Our
ratio of electronic payments to total payments had improved from approximately 58% at June 30, 2000 to about 64% as of 
June 30, 2001.

Research and Development. Our research and development costs were $35.6 million, or 11.5% of total revenue
for the year ended June 30, 2000, and were $55.6 million, or 12.8% of total revenue for the year ended June 30, 2001. Adjusted
for capitalized development costs of $7.9 million for the year ended June 30, 2000 and $4.9 million for the year ended June 30,
2001, our gross expenditures for research and development were $43.5 million, or 14.0% of total revenue for the year ended
June 30, 2000, and $60.5 million, or 14.0% of total revenue for the year ended June 30, 2001. As a result of our acquisition of
BlueGill, we added a large number of software development engineers and we continued to invest heavily in our i-Solutions
electronic billing software line of products. In addition, we released WebPay for Consumers, or WebPay 3.2, on our Genesis
processing platform in our Electronic Commerce business in March 2001. This product offering provided consumers the ability
to receive and pay e-bills over e-mail and to exchange money with each other using e-mail “invitations” to send or receive
money.

Sales and Marketing. Our sales and marketing costs were $44.8 million, or 14.4% of total revenue for the year
ended June 30, 2000, and were $90.3 million, or 20.8% of total revenue for the year ended June 30, 2001. The terms of our
strategic agreement with Bank of America called for us to provide $25.0 million at closing to help support an agreed upon 
two-year $45.0 million marketing campaign by Bank of America. Because we could not directly impact the specific nature,
timing or extent of the use of the marketing funds, we expensed the entire $25.0 million as a period cost in the quarter ended
December 31, 2000. Net of this one-time charge, sales and marketing costs were $65.3 million, or 15.0% of total revenue for
the year ended June 30, 2001. We initiated specific marketing programs during fiscal 2001 to provide direct assistance to our
Consumer Service Provider and biller customers in designing effective marketing and advertising campaigns geared toward
accelerated consumer adoption of electronic billing and payment services. In addition to the marketing programs, the increase 
in our sales and marketing expenses was the result of increased sales and marketing staff resulting from the BlueGill acquisition,
royalty costs resulting from the TransPoint acquisition, costs associated with the launch of the new i-Solutions product line, and
further investments in core marketing and communications areas in support of the continued growth of the business.
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General and Administrative. Our general and administrative expenses were $40.9 million or 13.2% of total
revenue for the year ended June 30, 2000, and were $50.5 million, or 11.7% of total revenue for the year ended June 30, 2001.
While we incurred incremental facility and administrative staff costs in support of the BlueGill,TransPoint, and Bank of America
transactions, and in support of the overall growth of the company, our general and administrative costs as a percentage of
revenue continued to decline due to the inherent leverage in our existing business model.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization cost increased from $42.8 million for the year
ended June 30, 2000 to $427.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2001. The significant increase is the direct result of amortization
of intangible assets from the acquisitions of BlueGill and TransPoint, and the purchase of the electronic billing and payment
assets from Bank of America. Net of intangible asset amortization from all acquisitions, our depreciation costs related solely to
fixed assets, increased from $24.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2000 to $34.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2001.
The increase in fixed asset related amortization was the result of fixed assets obtained in the BlueGill and TransPoint acquisitions,
and increasing capital expenditures for data processing equipment, related software and new and improved facilities in support
of the continued growth of the business.

In-Process Research and Development. In the quarter ended June 30, 2000, we incurred $6.9 million of 
in-process research and development costs in relation to our acquisition of BlueGill. In the quarter ended September 30, 2000,
we incurred $18.6 million of in-process research and development costs in relation to our acquisition of TransPoint. Please 
refer to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our June 30, 2001 Annual Report for a detailed discussion
of the charges.

Interest. Our interest income increased from $7.7 million for the year ended June 30, 2000 to $15.4 million for the
year ended June 30, 2001. Our balance of cash and invested assets was $207.6 million at June 30, 2000 and $256.1 million at
June 30, 2001. Although interest rates declined throughout the year ended June 30, 2001, we enjoyed a significant increase in
average invested assets from $116.1 million at June 30, 2000 to $231.9 million at June 30, 2001. While cash and invested assets
fluctuate quarter to quarter, the primary transactions influencing our cash and investment balances were the $97.2 million we
received in cash as part of the TransPoint acquisition in September 2000 and the $35.0 million of cash we used in connection
with our asset purchase agreement with Bank of America.

Our interest expense increased from $8.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2000 to $13.2 million for the year
ended June 30, 2001. While we also incur interest expense on leases, the increase in interest expense was due primarily to the
$172.5 million of 6.5% convertible subordinated notes we issued in November 1999, which created slightly over seven months
of interest expense in the year ended June 30, 2000 and 12 months of interest expense in the year ended June 30, 2001.

Loss on Investments. Due to overall market conditions, certain of our investments had incurred an “other than
temporary” decline in market value. As a result, in the year ended June 30, 2001, we recorded charges of $16.1 million to
appropriately reflect the decline in value of these investments.

Income Taxes. We recorded an income tax benefit of $11.4 million with an effective rate of 26.1% for the year
ended June 30, 2000 and an income tax benefit of $115.4 million with an effective rate of 24.1% for the year ended June 30,
2001. The reported effective rates differ from the blended statutory rate of 40% in both periods due to certain non-deductible
goodwill, in-process research and development and other non-deductible expenses, offset somewhat by jobs credits and tax
exempt interest income.



Segment Information

The following table sets forth our operating revenue and operating income (loss) by industry segment for the periods
noted. Charges identified as purchase accounting amortization, in-process research and development, a one-time marketing
charge, impairment of intangible assets, reorganization charge and charge associated with third party warrants were separated
from operating income for a better understanding of the underlying performance of each segment. Explanations for these
charges can be found in the discussions above.

Year ended June 30,
2000 2001 2002

(In thousands)
Operating revenue:

Electronic Commerce $ 213,391 $  301,532 $  352,054
Investment Services 54,792 69,613 79,574
Software 42,012 62,175 58,849
Total operating revenue $ 310,195 $  433,320 $  490,477

Operating income (loss):
Electronic Commerce $  (18,248) $   (13,083) $ 39,010
Investment Services 15,830 20,347 24,376
Software 10,536 837 5,789
Corporate (26,120) (35,746) (36,500)

Specific items:
Purchase accounting amortization (18,517) (393,436) (394,009)
Impairment of intangible assets - - (155,072)
One-time marketing charge - (25,000) -
In-process research and development (6,900) (18,600) -
Reorganization charge - - (16,365)
Charge associated with warrants issued to third party - - (2,748)

Total operating loss $  (43,419) $ (464,681) $ (535,519)

Years ended June 30, 2001 and 2002

Electronic Commerce. Revenue in our Electronic Commerce business increased by $50.5 million, or 17%, from
$301.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2001 to $352.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2002. In the quarter ended June
30, 2002, we recorded a non-cash charge of $2.7 million against Electronic Commerce revenue associated with the probable
vesting of warrants we issued to a third party. In October 1999, we entered into an agreement with a third party in which we
issued warrants on one million shares of our stock, exercisable on September 15, 2002, contingent upon maintaining the
existence of our agreement through that date. Net of this one-time non-cash charge, underlying revenue was $354.8 million 
for the year ended June 30, 2002, for an increase of 18%. Underlying growth in this business is driven primarily by an increase 
in subscribers from just over 5.2 million at June 30, 2001 to over 6.6 million as of June 30, 2002, an increase of 27%. While
significant, this growth rate is lower than we have seen in recent years. We anticipate that subscriber growth may remain lower
than historic growth rates in coming quarters, as economic conditions may continue to cause financial institutions to remain
aggressive in their managing subscriber counts.

With our acquisition of TransPoint in September 2000, we became the preferred provider of electronic billing and
payment services to customers through Microsoft’s MSN and Money Central product offerings. The agreement with Microsoft
provides guaranteed revenue of $120 million over a five-year period that commenced in January 2001. Additionally, as part of
the TransPoint acquisition, we received $60 million of guaranteed revenue and/or cost savings opportunities through First 
Data Corporation over a five-year period that began in September 2000. Effective October 21, 2000, we completed a strategic
agreement with Bank of America, the largest bank in the U.S., to offer electronic billing and payment services to its customer
base. This ten-year agreement provides annual revenue guarantees of $50.0 million, or $12.5 million on a quarterly basis. We
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had been processing certain transactions for Bank of America prior to the strategic agreement and, therefore, the 
$50 million guarantee was not entirely incremental to our underlying revenue. However, we did add approximately 300,000
incremental subscribers to our subscriber base upon completion of the strategic agreement. Underlying revenue for each of
these agreements had been below our guaranteed minimum level, until the quarter ended December 30, 2001, when Bank of
America exceeded their minimums. Bank of America continues to provide in excess of 10% of the total revenue of our
Electronic Commerce business unit as of June 30, 2002.

When combining subscriber growth with guaranteed minimums, an increasing number of businesses opting for a
transaction-based pricing structure versus a traditional subscriber-based pricing structure, other payment transactions which we
effect, a couple of large banks that have built their own in-house user interface and payment warehouse, an emerging electronic
billing revenue stream, and volatile interest-based revenue sources that fluctuate with interest rate changes, it has become too
difficult to correlate revenue solely to the number of subscribers, with transactions processed becoming a more meaningful
indicator. For the year ended June 30, 2002, we processed in excess of 316 million transactions, compared to 231 million
processed for the year ended June 30, 2001. Historically, we have provided the total number of subscribers and total number 
of transactions processed on a quarterly basis. Given the evolution of our business, on a going forward basis, we will provide
greater details based on the type of relationship we have with our partners. We have two primary types of relationships and
will include all relationships into one of two categories: Full Service relationships and Transaction Service relationships. Partners
that have a Full Service relationship with us outsource their electronic billing and payment process to us. For this group, we
have contracts where our partners pay us either on a per-subscriber basis or a per-transaction basis, or some combination of
both. Partners that have a Transaction Service relationship with us receive a subset of our electronic billing and payment
transaction services. An example is a bank that hosts its own payment warehouse and contracts with us to process payments.
Our contracts with large billers and our account balance transfer relationships fall into this category as well, as our relationship
is primarily transaction driven. For our Full Service relationships, we provide total active subscribers, total transactions and total
revenue attributable to these transactions. For our Transaction Services relationships, we provide total transactions and total
revenue attributable to these transactions. Since many of these relationships are not contracted to track active subscribers, we
are not in a position to provide active subscriber counts for this category. Revenue streams within Electronic Commerce that
either do not process through our Genesis platform, such as our Health and Fitness business, or are not subscriber or
transaction driven, such as implementation services, will be reflected in a third category described simply as other revenue. The
following table provides four quarters of history in the relevant statistics that we expect to provide on a going forward basis:

Quarter Ended
9/30/01 12/31/01 3/31/02 6/30/02

(In thousands)
Full service relationships

Revenue $ 64,968 $ 67,161 $ 71,155 $ 74,132
Active subscribers 2,620 2,749 2,930 3,122
Transactions processed 56,055 60,947 65,531 69,045

Transaction service relationships
Revenue $ 9,878 $ 10,243 $ 10,285 $ 10,669
Transactions processed 13,385 15,509 16,866 18,942

Other Electronic Commerce
Revenue $ 9,981 $ 8,236 $ 8,332 $ 9,762
Non-cash revenue charge related to warrants $ (2,748)

To date, we have 207 primary billers in production with our E-Bill electronic billing product offering that are
delivering over 1.3 million electronic bills per month as of June 30, 2002. A primary biller, by our definition, is one that has the
potential to distribute in excess of 100,000 bills on a monthly basis. Also, we have added bill aggregation technology to our
Genesis platform that provides access to additional bills through “scraping,” which is available to consumer service providers 
as they upgrade to our Web Pay for Consumers product. As of June 30, 2002, we are distributing 25 bills through scraping
technology and have implemented another 30 non-primary billers, for a total consumer choice of among 262 electronic bills.
In the prior quarter, we had reported 26 bills available through scraping, but during the quarter ended June 30, 2002, one of the
related billers chose instead to contract with us for bill distribution services. We continue to believe that a complete, integrated
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round trip electronic billing and payment experience for an average of six to ten bills per month per customer is an important
factor in driving subscriber growth. As of June 30, 2002, we estimate that the average consumer using our Web Pay for
Consumer product has the potential to receive from six to nine electronic bills in major strategic marketing areas throughout
the United States.

Underlying operating results in our Electronic Commerce business, excluding a non-cash charge to revenue related 
to warrants, purchase accounting amortization, intangible asset impairment charges, in-process research and development, a one-
time marketing charge and reorganization charges, have improved from an operating loss of $13.1 million for the year ended
June 30, 2001 to operating income of $39.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2002. We continue to drive improved efficiency
and processing quality within our Genesis processing platform. Our ratio of electronic payments to total payments has
improved from 64% as of June 30, 2001 to over 71% as of June 30, 2002. Electronic payments carry a significantly lower variable
cost per unit than paper payments and are far less likely to result in a costly customer inquiry or claim. The full underlying
impact of improved efficiency and quality, however, is not readily apparent in these results. We acquired TransPoint in September
2000 and the electronic billing and payment assets of Bank of America in October 2000. As a result of these transactions, we
supported two additional billing and payment processing platforms for much of the year ended June 30, 2001 and one additional
platform through March 2002. The acquired platforms were less efficient than our Genesis processing platform and, therefore,
much more expensive to operate. During the year ended June 30, 2002, we incurred approximately $18.0 million of expense 
to Bank of America for their support of the Bank of America West processing platform. We completed the conversion of the
TransPoint subscribers and billers onto Genesis in the quarter ended June 30, 2001. We completed the conversion of the Bank
of America subscribers onto Genesis in the quarter ended December 31, 2001. After processing the remaining pre-conversion
customer inquiries and claims during the quarter ended March 31, 2002, we have retired the Bank of America platform. As a
result of the successful conversion of Bank of America subscribers to Genesis and our ability to retire the Bank of America
platform, we announced the closing of our San Francisco customer care facility effective April 30, 2002 and our Houston
customer care facility effective June 30, 2002. On March 19, 2002, we also announced an overall company reorganization that
resulted in a net reduction in force of approximately 450 employees across the company, including the closing of offices
mentioned. Additionally, upon retirement of our legacy Austin processing platform expected during the quarter ended
September 30, 2002, we will also close our Austin,Texas office. The combined impact of these various actions reduced our
quarterly costs by approximately $7.0 million to $8.0 million starting in the quarter ended June 30, 2002. Our focus throughout
fiscal 2002 was geared toward improved profitability in our Electronic Commerce business through programs designed to:

� drive increased subscriber adoption and activation among our partners;
� improve product design and usability;
� improve overall customer satisfaction; and
� reduce variable costs per transaction.

While there continues to be no guarantee as to the timing or extent of accelerating adoption of electronic billing 
and payment services, we believe that with our continued focus on improved product and service quality, customer satisfaction
and cost efficiency, we are better positioned to maintain our market leadership position throughout an accelerated growth
cycle, should it occur.

Investment Services. Revenue in our Investment Services business increased by $10.0 million, or 14%, from $69.6
million for the year ended June 30, 2001, to $79.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2002. Growth in this business is due
primarily to an increase in portfolios managed from more than 1.1 million at June 30, 2001 to about 1.2 million at June 30, 2002.
Much of the revenue growth has occurred in fee-based versus institutional accounts, mirroring the movement of the investment
industry towards fee-based products and away from the transactional commission-based model. The lower annual growth in
both revenue and portfolios compared to prior periods is due primarily to the decline in economic conditions, particularly in
the financial services sector, as well as industry consolidations, which have resulted in the loss of over 100,000 portfolios.
However, the majority of these portfolios possessed a much lower price point than average, based on the services provided,
resulting in a reduced negative impact. A rationalization of our Raleigh, North Carolina office and discontinuation of our
financial planning products was completed during the year ended June 30, 2002. We expect that these actions will result in a
modest decrease in revenue, offset by a modest increase in operating income in future periods.
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During the quarter ended March 31, 2002, the division released two new product offerings: a new trading and
reporting tool for multiple strategy portfolios, which was released to complement CheckFree APL and the APL Browser, which
offers clients access via the Internet to the division’s portfolio accounting and reporting product, creating a highly visible new
distribution channel for money managers and brokers.

Operating income in our Investment Services segment, excluding purchase accounting amortization and reorganization
charges, has increased by $4.0 million, or 20%, from $20.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2001 to $24.4 million for the 
year ended June 30, 2002. As previously indicated, much of our revenue growth has occurred in fee-based versus institutional
accounts that may carry a lower unit price, which in turn places downward pressure on margins as the cost to process this
business is not proportionally lower. We initiated a quality program that focuses attention on improved system reliability,
particularly trading availability, which is critical to the business unit, and we have enhanced our disaster recovery capabilities.
Throughout fiscal 2002, the key initiatives in the Investment Services division have been:

� extension of product offerings with a shortened time to market;
� additional versions of the APL Browser with increased functionality; and
� continued development of a relational database allowing our clients easier access to their data.

Software. Revenue in our Software business has declined by $3.4 million, or 5%, from $62.2 million for the year
ended June 30, 2001, to $58.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2002. The downturn in economic conditions in calendar 2001
and continuing throughout calendar 2002 has caused many businesses to curtail discretionary expenditures, which has resulted
in an overall dampening of demand for software solutions. To help address the economic concerns within our i-Solutions
business unit, we released two new product offerings in fiscal 2002:

� i-Solutions Select, which is a series of industry-tailored packaged software choices at lower price points; and
� new options for billers to host economically priced electronic billing and payment services at CheckFree, which

streamlines implementation cycles and lowers costs to billers while delivering both biller direct and e-bill
distribution and payment across our network.

We released these two solutions during the quarter ended September 30, 2001, and while we continue to see
increasing interest in the hosting solution, the direct software sales of both i-Solutions and i-Solutions Select remain slower than
expected during the extended recessionary economy. Our more mature software units, CFACS and ACH Solutions, also both
faced some dampening of demand during the year. Overall, we believe that software sales in general will continue to be
challenging until economic conditions improve.

Operating results in our Software business, excluding purchase accounting amortization, impairment of intangible assets
and reorganization charges, have improved from operating income of $0.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2001 to operating
income of $5.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2002. Improvement in operating results is primarily the result of continued
efforts to manage discretionary costs in light of current economic conditions. On March 19, 2002, we announced a company-
wide reorganization that resulted in a net reduction in force of approximately 450 employees. As part of these actions, we
announced the closing of our Ann Arbor, Michigan office. As a result of this reorganization, we experienced a recurring savings 
in underlying costs in the quarter ended June 30, 2002.

Corporate. Our Corporate segment represents costs for legal, human resources, finance and various other
unallocated overhead expenses. Our Corporate segment incurred operating expenses of $35.7 million, or 8% of total revenue,
for the year ended June 30, 2001 and of $36.5 million, or over 7% of total revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2002. Although
our total overhead expenses have increased slightly, as a percentage of revenue, they continue to improve, reflecting the leverage
inherent in our business model. On March 19, 2002, we announced a company-wide reorganization. However, we have been
reducing corporate costs through attrition and discretionary cost management throughout the year and, therefore, we did not
incur significant additional reductions in staff in this segment. We expect to enjoy continued leverage within our corporate
segment on a going forward basis.



Purchase Accounting Amortization. The purchase accounting amortization line represents amortization of
intangible assets resulting from all of our various acquisitions from 1996 forward. The total amount of purchase accounting
amortization has increased from $393.4 million for the year ended June 30, 2001 to $394.0 million for the year ended 
June 30, 2002. The increase is the result of intangible assets established by the acquisitions of TransPoint in September 2000 
and the purchase of the electronic billing and payment assets of Bank of America in October 2000, offset by shorter-term
intangible assets that fully amortized in the quarter ended December 31, 2001 and the decline in amortization expense resulting
from the intangible asset impairment charge we recorded in the quarter ended December 31, 2001. For comparative purposes,
the breakout of purchase accounting amortization by segment is as follows:

Year ended June 30,
Purchase Accounting Amortization by Segment 2000 2001 2002

(In thousands)

Electronic Commerce $ 2,371 $ 328,072 $ 358,476
Investment Services 4,920 5,369 5,665
Software 11,226 59,995 29,868

Total $ 18,517 $ 393,436 $ 394,009

Impairment of Intangible Assets. In the quarter ended December 31, 2001, we recorded charges totaling $155.1
million for the impairment of intangible assets. This was the combined result of a charge of $107.4 million for the impairment of
goodwill associated with our acquisition of BlueGill Technologies in April 2000 (currently referred to as CheckFree i-Solutions),
and of $47.7 million for the retirement of certain technology assets we acquired from TransPoint in September 2000. Please
refer to Impairment of Intangible Assets in the Results of Operations section of this report for a detailed explanation of these
charges.

Reorganization Charge. In January 2002, we announced our plans to close our customer care facility in San
Francisco, California, effective April 30, 2002, which resulted in the termination of employees at that facility. At that time, we 
also announced our intent to eliminate certain of our financial planning products within our Investment Services division, which
also resulted in a small reduction of employees in our Raleigh, North Carolina office. On March 19, 2002, we further announced
the closing of our Houston and Austin,Texas offices and a net reduction in force totaling 450 employees. As a result of these
actions, we have incurred a charge of $15.9 million in the quarter ended March 31, 2002 and a true-up charge of $0.5 million 
in the quarter ended June 30, 2002, consisting primarily of severance and related employee benefits and lease termination fees.
We accounted for these actions in accordance with EITF abstract number 94-3,“Liability Recognition for Certain Employee
Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity.” For further details relating to this charge, please refer to Note 17 in
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements elsewhere within this report.

One-Time Marketing Charge. The one-time marketing charge took place in the three-month period ended
December 31, 2000. Our strategic agreement with Bank of America called for us to provide $25.0 million of cash at closing 
to help support an agreed upon two year $45.0 million marketing campaign by Bank of America. Because we had no direct
influence or impact on the specific nature, timing or extent of the use of the funds, we expensed the $25.0 million as a period
cost in the quarter ended December 31, 2000. Additionally, because we do not market directly to subscribers but rather leave
that to our various consumer service provider customers, we have segregated this charge from ongoing operations as an
unusual, non-recurring event.

In-Process Research and Development. In the three month period ended September 30, 2000, we incurred
$18.6 million of in-process research and development costs in relation to our acquisition of TransPoint. For a detailed discussion
of this charge, please refer to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our June 30, 2001 Annual Report.

Charge Associated with Warrants Issued to a Third Party. In the three-month period ended June 30, 2002,
we incurred a non-cash charge of $2.7 million against revenue resulting from warrants we issued to a third party in 1999.
During the quarter, we determined it was probable that one million warrants would vest on the scheduled vesting date 
of September 15, 2002. The charge was based on a Black-Scholes valuation of the warrants and was accounted for as a charge
against revenue in accordance with EITF 01-09,“Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer.” We will
revalue the warrants on the vesting date, and to the extent that final value differs from the $2.7 million charge, we will record
the amount necessary to adjust revenue for that difference.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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Years Ended June 30, 2000 and 2001

Electronic Commerce. Revenue in our Electronic Commerce business increased by 41%, from $213.4 million 
for the year ended June 30, 2000, to $301.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2001. Net of approximately $35.0 million of
incremental revenue provided from TransPoint and Bank of America as described below, underlying revenue in our Electronic
Commerce business grew in the mid 20% range. The primary driver of this underlying revenue growth was an increase in
subscribers from 3.5 million at June 30, 2000 to just over 5.2 million at June 30, 2001, 0.3 million of which were added by 
Bank of America in October 2000.

We completed our acquisition of TransPoint in September 2000. The agreement with Microsoft provides guaranteed
revenue of $120 million over a five-year period, which commenced in January 2001. Additionally, as part of the TransPoint
acquisition, we received $60 million of guaranteed revenue and/or cost saving opportunities through First Data Corporation
over a five-year period, which began in September 2000. Effective October 1, 2000, we completed a strategic agreement with
Bank of America, the largest bank in the U.S., to offer electronic billing and payment services to its customer base. This ten-year
agreement provides annual revenue guarantees of $50 million ($12.5 million on a quarterly basis) and Bank of America has
agreed to invest $45 million over a two year period to promote the awareness and adoption of electronic billing and payment
services by their customers. We had been processing certain transactions for Bank of America before the strategic alliance 
was completed and, therefore, the $50 million annual revenue guarantee should not be considered entirely incremental to 
our underlying revenue. We did, however, add 300,000 incremental subscribers to our subscriber base upon completion of 
the agreement.

Through June 30, 2001, we had signed 241 named billers to our E-Bill electronic billing product offering. Combined
with the 30 net new billers we assumed with the TransPoint acquisition, this brought our signed biller total to 271. We had 
173 billers in production that delivered nearly 500,000 electronic bills in the month ended June 30, 2001. Our acquisition of
BlueGill was expected to facilitate our efforts to provide quality billing content by simplifying and accelerating the process 
of taking bills from paper to electronic. As of June 30, 2001, we were distributing six popular credit card bills through scraping
technology for a total consumer choice of among 179 electronic bills. As of June 30, 2001, we estimated that the average
consumer had the potential to receive from five to eight electronic bills in major strategic marketing areas throughout the
United States.

The operating loss in our Electronic Commerce segment, excluding purchase accounting amortization, a one-time
marketing charge of $25.0 million, and in-process research and development, had improved from $18.2 million for the year
ended June 30, 2000, to $13.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2001. As a result of the TransPoint acquisition and the
purchase of Bank of America’s electronic billing and payment assets, we supported two additional and less efficient billing and
payment processing platforms for most of fiscal 2001. Although expected, this resulted in a significant increase in our cost of
processing, servicing and support during the year. We completed the conversion of TransPoint subscribers and billers to the
Genesis processing platform in the quarter ended June 30, 2001. We completed the conversion of a portion of the Bank of
America East subscribers within the quarter ended March 31, 2001. The remaining Bank of America subscribers, referred to
internally as Bank of America West, converted in the quarter ended December 31, 2001. We expected that until the final
conversion was completed, we would continue to experience higher than normal incremental processing costs, but at a
decreasing rate, as new subscriber transactions are processed on the more efficient Genesis processing system, and that
ultimately proved to be true. Somewhat masked by less efficient incremental costs resulting from TransPoint and Bank of
America were underlying improvements in efficiency and processing quality within Genesis. Our ratio of electronic payments 
to total payments improved from approximately 58% at June 30, 2000 to about 64% as of June 30, 2001. We also incurred
additional sales and marketing and general and administrative expenses as a result of the two transactions. Throughout fiscal
2001, we continued to focus attention on the following four areas within our Electronic Commerce business:

� delivery of an increasing number of bills electronically over the Internet;
� extension of the payment capabilities of our Genesis infrastructure while continuing to deliver market-leading

quality and cost efficiency;
� co-marketing programs designed to bring billers and channel partners together to strengthen incentives and value

delivered to consumers; and
� expansion of the number of sites where consumers can receive and pay bills.



Investment Services. Revenue in our Investment Services business increased by 27%, from $54.8 million for 
the year ended June 30, 2000, to $69.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2001. Growth was due primarily to an increase in
portfolios managed from approximately 950,000 at June 30, 2000 to over 1.1 million at June 30, 2001. Much of the revenue
growth occurred in retail versus institutional accounts that carry a lower unit price. During the quarter ended March 31, 2001,
the business released a significantly enhanced version of M-Search, a money manager database system, and APL-ASP, an
innovative and flexible new portfolio management services offering for start-up and break away money managers. When
combined with the emergence of Internet-based wrap services, which created a highly visible new distribution channel for
money managers and brokers, these product enhancements and new distribution channel opportunities helped to fuel further
growth for our Investment Services business.

Operating income in our Investment Services business, excluding purchase accounting amortization, increased by 29%,
from $15.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2000, to $20.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2001. Although much of our
revenue growth occurred in retail versus institutional accounts that carry a lower unit price, which in turn places downward
pressure on margins as the cost to process this business is not proportionally lower, we were able offset this pressure with
efficiencies elsewhere in the business, as our operating margins remained consistent year over year.

Software. Revenue in our Software business increased by 48%, from $42.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2000,
to $62.2 million for the year ended June 30, 2001. The growth in software revenue was primarily attributable to the acquisition
of BlueGill, now operating as CheckFree i-Solutions, as revenue in our more mature software businesses had increased modestly
on a year over year basis. Growth from i-Solutions sales has come from efforts both domestically and internationally.

Operating income in our Software business, excluding purchase accounting amortization and in-process research and
development, declined from $10.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2000, to $0.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2001.
As expected, the operations acquired from BlueGill provided downward pressure on operating margins throughout fiscal 2001
as we invested significantly in this emerging product line. The electronic billing and statement software product line acquired from
BlueGill provided synergies to the electronic billing and payment products within our Electronic Commerce business. Investments
in this area were expected to facilitate our efforts to provide high quality billing content, and simplify and accelerate the process
of taking bills and statements from paper to electronic form.

Corporate. Our Corporate segment represents costs for legal, human resources, finance and various other
unallocated overhead expenses. Our Corporate segment incurred operating expenses of $26.1 million, or 8.4% of total
revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2000, and $35.7 million, or 8.2% of total revenue, for the year ended June 30, 2001.
Although we continued to add corporate resources in support of the growth of the business, our overhead costs as a
percentage of revenue had begun to decline, and were starting to reflect the expected leverage in our business model.

Purchase Accounting Amortization. The purchase accounting amortization line represents amortization of
intangible assets resulting from all of our various acquisitions from 1996 forward. The total amount of purchase accounting
amortization has increased from $18.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2000 to $393.4 million for the year ended June 30,
2001. The increases were the result of intangible assets created by the acquisitions of BlueGill in April 2000 and TransPoint in
September 2000 and the acquisition of the electronic billing and payment assets of Bank of America effective in October 2000.

In-process Research and Development. In the quarter ended June 30, 2000, we incurred $6.9 million of in-
process research and development costs related to the acquisition of BlueGill and, in the quarter ended September 30, 2000, we
incurred $18.6 million of in-process research and development costs as a result of the acquisition of TransPoint. Please refer to
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in our June 30, 2001 Annual Report for a detailed explanation of these charges.

One-time Marketing Charge. The one-time marketing charge took place in the quarter ended December 31,
2000. Our strategic agreement with Bank of America called for us to provide $25.0 million of cash at closing to help support 
a two-year $45.0 million marketing campaign by Bank of America. Because we did not have the ability to directly impact the
specific nature, timing or extent of the use of the funds, we expensed the $25.0 million as a period cost in the quarter ended
December 31, 2000. Additionally, because we do not market directly to subscribers, we separated this charge from ongoing
operations as an unusual, non-recurring event.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following chart provides a summary of our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the referenced periods:

Cash Flows for the Year Ended June 30,
2000 2001 2002

(In thousands)

Cash flow provided by (used in) operating activities $ 21,016 $ (234) $ 45,869
Cash flow used in investing activities (108,935) (26,888) (58,189)
Cash flow provided by financing activities 203,547 23,170 3,207
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 115,628 $ (3,952) $ (9,113)

As of June 30, 2002, we had $206.0 million of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments on hand, and an
additional $72.8 million in long-term investments. Our balance sheet reflects a current ratio of 2.8 and working capital of
$201.7 million. With the retirement of inefficient processing platforms and the restructuring actions we initiated on March 19,
2002, we believe that we are in a position to generate positive operating cash flow in the coming year. As a result, when
combined with existing balances, we believe we have sufficient cash to meet our presently anticipated requirements for the
foreseeable future. However, an extended recessionary economy could have a negative impact on our continued ability to
generate significant cash flow from operations. To the extent that additional capital resources are required, we have access to an
untapped $30.0 million line of credit.

For the year ended June 30, 2002, we generated $45.9 million of cash from operating activities. During our
September quarter, we typically use a significant amount of cash for payments such as our annual incentive compensation and
commissions related to seasonally high software sales from the previous quarter. As mentioned above, as a result of continuing
efforts to improve operating efficiency, we have been able to generate cash from operating activities over the past three
quarters and we expect to generate positive cash from operations for the full year ending June 30, 2003.

From an investing perspective, we used $58.2 million of cash for the year ended June 30, 2002. This is comprised 
of $100.7 million of cash used for the purchase of held to maturity investments, $22.0 million of cash used for the purchase 
of fixed assets and software, $4.4 million used for capitalization of software development costs, and $3.0 million set aside as
restricted investments; offset by $72.3 million in cash received from sales of held to maturity investments.

From a financing perspective, for the year ended June 30, 2002, we generated $3.2 million of cash from financing
activities. We received $3.8 million of cash as proceeds from our employee stock purchase plan, $2.3 million of cash from the
exercise of employee stock options, and $0.7 million from the exercise of common stock warrants; offset by $3.6 million of
principal payments under capital leases and other long-term obligations. Also, on August 8, 2002, our board of directors
authorized us to spend up to $40.0 million for the repurchase of shares of outstanding stock, the purchase of outstanding
convertible debt, or a combination of the two, at any time before August 31, 2003.

For the year ended June 30, 2001, we used $0.2 million of cash flow from operations. Of this amount, $6.7 million
represents net proceeds from trading securities transactions, which GAAP requires us to reflect in cash flow from operations.
Also of note, included in cash used in operations was a one-time $25.0 million cash marketing charge related to our strategic
alliance with Bank of America. Excluding these two items, underlying cash flow provided by operating activities was $18.5 million.

From an investing perspective, we used $41.7 million of cash for the purchase of property and software and we
capitalized $4.9 million of software development costs. We used $67.0 million for the net purchase of held-to-maturity securities
and we capitalized another $10.3 million of strategic agreement costs. Finally, we received $96.6 million in cash and cash
equivalents through the purchase of TransPoint, net of related acquisition costs.

From a financing perspective, we received $15.7 million in proceeds from the exercise of common stock warrants.
We received an additional $6.9 million from the exercise of options from our employee stock option plan and $4.4 million from
the purchase of stock from our employee stock purchase plan. Finally, we used $3.8 million of cash for principal payments under
capital lease obligations and other long-term obligations.
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For the year ended June 30, 2000, we generated $21.0 million of cash flow from operations. Of this amount,
$3.6 million represented net proceeds from trading securities transactions, which GAAP requires us to reflect in cash flow 
from operations.

From an investing perspective, we used $39.5 million of cash for the purchase of property and software, and
capitalized $7.6 million of software development costs. We used $61.0 million for the net purchase of held-to-maturity
securities and another $10.0 million in the purchase of common stock. Finally, we received $9.2 million in cash and cash
equivalents through the purchase of BlueGill, net of related acquisition costs.

From a financing perspective, we received $166.9 million of net proceeds from the issuance of $172.5 million in 6.5%
convertible subordinated notes and another $25.5 million in proceeds from the exercise of common stock warrants and the
purchase of our common stock by third parties. We received additional cash of $9.7 million from the exercise of options from
our employee stock option plans and $2.9 million from the purchase of stock from our employee stock purchase plan. Finally,
we used $1.5 million of cash for principal payments under capital lease and other long-term obligations.

The following table represents a summary of our contractual obligations and commercial commitments over the next
several years which provides added information in understanding expected cash commitments from various obligations we have
entered into over time.

Payments Due
Year Ended June 30,

2004 to 2006 to
Contractual Obligations Total 2003 2005 2007 Thereafter

(In thousands)

Long-term debt $ 172,500 $         - $         - $ 172,500 $         -
Capital lease obligations 4,761 1,610 2,974 177 -
Operating leases 136,093 30,956 29,662 20,211 55,264
Unconditional purchase obligations 13,224 6,929 6,295 - -
Other long-term obligations 5,261 4,078 1,183 - -
Total contractual cash obligations $ 331,839 $ 43,573 $ 40,114 $ 192,888 $ 55,264

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

On July 20, 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 141,“Business Combinations” and SFAS 142,“Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets.” SFAS 141 requires all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for using the purchase
method of accounting. In addition, it requires application of the provisions of SFAS 142 for goodwill and other intangible assets
related to any business combinations completed after June 30, 2001, but prior to the adoption date of SFAS 142. SFAS 142
changes the accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets. Upon adoption, goodwill is no longer subject to amortization
over its estimated useful life. Rather, goodwill will be subject to at least an annual assessment for impairment by applying a 
fair-value-based test. All other acquired intangibles will be separately recognized if the benefit of the intangible asset is obtained
through contractual or other legal rights, or if the intangible asset can be sold, transferred, licensed, or exchanged, regardless of
the Company’s intent to do so. Other intangibles will be amortized over their useful lives.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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SFAS 142 becomes effective for the Company on July 1, 2002 and will have the following impacts:

� The Company will be required to reclassify approximately $1.3 million of unamortized workforce in place intangible
assets, net of the associated deferred income taxes, into goodwill.

� After the reclassification above, the goodwill balance of approximately $532 million will no longer be amortized.
The resulting reduction in amortization expense is estimated at approximately $165 million for each of the
Company’s fiscal years 2003, 2004 and 2005.

� The Company is required to perform a transitional impairment test as of July 1, 2002. This impairment test requires
the Company to (1) identify its reporting units, (2) determine the carrying value of each reporting unit by assigning
assets and liabilities, including existing goodwill and intangible assets, to those reporting units, and (3) determine the
fair value of each reporting unit. If the carrying value of any reporting unit exceeds its fair value, then the amount 
of any goodwill impairment will be determined through a fair value analysis of each of the assigned assets (excluding
goodwill) and liabilities.

The Company has substantially completed its transitional impairment test and expects to record a charge in the
range of $2 to $5 million for impairment of goodwill associated with its i-Solutions reporting unit. This charge will be reflected
as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in our September 30, 2002 financial statements.

Following the transitional impairment test, the Company’s goodwill balances will be subject to annual impairment
tests using the same process described above. If any impairment is indicated as a result of the annual test, an impairment charge
would be recorded as part of income from operations.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 143,“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” SFAS 143 addresses
financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated
retirement costs. The adoption of SFAS 143 is effective for the Company for fiscal 2003. The Company does not expect that
the adoption of this statement will have a significant impact on its results of operations and financial position.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 144,“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” 
SFAS 144 supersedes SFAS 121,“Accounting for Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed
Of” and the accounting and reporting provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion 30,“Reporting Results of Operations –
Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events 
and Transactions” for the disposal of a segment of a business. SFAS 144 addresses financial accounting and reporting for the
impairment or disposal of long-lived assets and will be effective for the Company’s first quarter of fiscal 2003. The Company does
not expect that the adoption of this statement will have a significant impact on its results of operations and financial position.

In April 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS 145,“Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44,
and 64,Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections.” This statement eliminates the current requirement
that gains and losses on extinguishment of debt must be classified as extraordinary items in the income statement. Instead, the
statement requires that gains and losses on extinguishment of debt be evaluated against the criteria in APB 30,“Reporting the
Results of Operations – Discontinued Events and Extraordinary Items” to determine whether or not it should be classified as
an extraordinary item. In addition, the statement contains other corrections to authoritative accounting literature in SFAS 4, 44
and 64. The changes in SFAS 145 related to debt extinguishment will be effective for the Company’s 2003 fiscal year and the
other changes were effective beginning with transactions after May 15, 2002. In August 2002, the Company announced that its
board of directors had authorized a repurchase program under which the Company may purchase shares of its common stock
and convertible notes. Should the Company purchase any of its convertible notes and realize a gain or loss on the transaction,
SFAS 145 will require the Company to evaluate the transaction against the criteria in APB 30 to determine if the gain or loss
should be classified as an extraordinary item. If classification as an extraordinary item is not appropriate, the gain or loss would
be included as part of income from operations.
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In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 146,“Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” which
addresses accounting for reorganization and similar costs. SFAS 146 supersedes previous accounting guidance, principally EITF
94-3. SFAS 146 requires that the liability for costs associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability 
is incurred. Under EITF No. 94-3, a liability for an exit cost was recognized at the date of a company’s commitment to an exit
plan. SFAS 146 also establishes that the liability should initially be measured and recorded at fair value. Accordingly, SFAS 146
may affect the timing of recognizing any future reorganization costs as well as the amount recognized. The provisions of SFAS
146 are effective for reorganization activities initiated after December 31, 2002.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Critical accounting policies are those policies that are both important to the portrayal of
our financial condition and results of operations, and they require our most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as 
a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. We believe the policies and
estimates described below relating to intangible assets, equity instruments issued to customers, and deferred income taxes 
are our critical accounting policies.

Discussion with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. In determining which of our accounting
policies warranted disclosure as critical in nature, our senior financial management team prepared an analysis of our accounting
policies and reviewed the policies in detail with our Audit Committee. After discussing the level of management judgment
required to comply with our accounting policies, we agreed with the Audit Committee that the following accounting policies 
are deemed to be critical in nature and should be disclosed as such.

Intangible Assets. Over the past several years, we have acquired a number of businesses and the electronic billing
and payment assets of Bank of America, which resulted in significant intangible assets. As of June 30, 2002, the balance of such
intangible assets on our balance sheet totaled over $1.1 billion and is spread across our three business segments as follows:

� Electronic Commerce of $1.08 billion;
� Software of $38.7 million; and
� Investment Services of $26.0 million.

Through June 30, 2002, we evaluate our intangible assets for impairment whenever indicators of impairment exist
using SFAS 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of.” SFAS 121
requires that if the sum of the future cash flows expected to result from a company’s use of an asset, undiscounted and without
interest charges, is less than the reported value of the asset, an asset impairment must be recognized in the financial statements.
The amount of impairment to recognize is calculated by subtracting the fair value of the asset from the reported value of the
asset.

In our Software segment, we reviewed our i-Solutions intangible assets for impairment during the quarter ended
December 31, 2001, due to a trend in lower than expected license sales during the extended recessionary economy. We
determined that the book value of long-lived assets within i-Solutions exceeded the undiscounted sum of the expected future
cash flows from the assets related to the i-Solutions business unit, which indicated that the intangible assets were impaired. The
actual amount of impairment was then determined by subtracting the fair value of the expected cash flows from the i-Solutions
business unit from the related long-lived assets. As a result, in accordance with GAAP, we recorded an impairment charge of
$107.4 million against the balance of i-Solutions goodwill in the quarter ended December 31, 2001. We applied judgment in
developing projections of future cash flows from our i-Solutions business. Our projections include, but are not limited to,
expectations of product sales and related future product maintenance revenues, cost of sales, and other operating expenses
supporting this business five years into the future. Additionally, we estimated a terminal value, which represents the present
value of future cash flow beyond the five-year period. Finally, we assumed a discount rate that we believed fairly represented 
the risk-free rate and a risk premium appropriate for this business. Variances from our projected cash flows, and the related
terminal value, could have had a significant impact on the amount of the impairment charge we recorded. If we had assumed 
a 10% increase in our estimated annual cash flows from the i-Solutions business unit, we would have passed the SFAS 121
undiscounted cash flow test and not recorded an impairment charge at all. If, however, we reduced our estimated annual cash
flows for the i-Solutions business unit by 10%, our impairment charge would have increased by approximately $3.6 million.
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In our Electronic Commerce segment, we reviewed our TransPoint related technology assets for impairment during
the quarter ended December 31, 2001, due to the termination of a maintenance agreement for this technology from the last 
of our international partners and an evaluation of the service potential of the related technology assets against our current and
future initiatives. We determined that there was no alternative future use for two of the technology assets, and in accordance
with GAAP, we recorded a charge of $47.7 million to retire these assets. The retirement of the TransPoint technology assets
was an indicator of potential impairment for other intangible assets associated with this acquisition. SFAS 121 requires us to
test for impairment at the lowest level of separately identifiable cash flows, which we determined in this case, was our
Electronic Commerce division. We performed the initial impairment test by comparing the sum of expected future cash flows
from the assets related to our Electronic Commerce division, on an undiscounted basis, to the book value of the Electronic
Commerce division long-lived assets. Since the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows exceeded the long-lived assets book
value, there was no impairment. There were several areas of management judgment used in performing this analysis. Initially, our
projections of future cash flow from the Electronic Commerce division required management’s judgment regarding our
expectations of future revenues, costs, and other operating expenses supporting this business five years into the future.
Additionally, we estimated a terminal value, which represents the present value of future cash flow beyond the five-year period.
Finally, we assumed a discount rate that we believed fairly represented the risk-free rate and a risk premium appropriate for 
this business. Variances, both positive and negative, from our projected cash flows, and the related terminal value, would not
have had a significant impact on our analysis. If we had assumed a 10% increase in our estimated annual cash flows from the
Electronic Commerce division, we would have simply passed the SFAS 121 undiscounted cash flow test by a greater margin. If
we had assumed a 10% reduction in our estimated annual cash flows we still would have passed the undiscounted cash flow test
and therefore still not incurred an impairment charge.

In January 2002, we announced the intent to eliminate certain of our financial planning products within our
Investment Services division. The elimination of those products was an indicator of potential impairment for our long-lived
assets associated with that M-Solutions business unit within our Investment Services segment. We determined that the lowest
level of separately identifiable cash flows at which to test for impairment was our M-Solutions business unit. We performed the
initial impairment test by comparing the sum of expected future cash flows from the assets related to M-Solutions, on an
undiscounted basis, to the book value of the M-Solutions division’s long-lived assets. Since the sum of the undiscounted future
cash flows exceeded the long-lived assets book value, there was no impairment. As with our other analyses, there were several
areas of management judgment used in performing this analysis such as our projections of future cash flows from this business,
the estimated terminal value and the discount rate we used. Variances from our projected cash flows, and the related terminal
value, would not have had a significant impact on our analysis. If we had assumed a 10% increase on our estimated annual cash
flows from the M-Solutions business, we would have simply passed the SFAS 121 undiscounted cash flow test by a greater
margin. Had we had assumed a 10% reduction in our estimated annual cash flows, we still would have passed the undiscounted
cash flow test, and therefore still not incurred an impairment charge.

Equity Instruments Issued to Customers. Within our Electronic Commerce segment, from time to time, we
have determined it appropriate to issue warrants to certain of our customers to provide an incentive for them to achieve
mutually beneficial long-term objectives. These objectives can take the form of performance against long-term growth targets,
such as the number of the third-party’s customers that become active bill paying subscribers of our service or the number of
bills distributed electronically to the third party’s customers, or more relationship oriented, such as simply remaining a customer
at a specified future date. Accounting standards for these types of warrants require us to record a charge when it becomes
probable that the warrants will vest. For milestone based warrants the amount of the charge would be the fair value of the
portion of the warrants earned by the customer based on their progress towards achieving the milestone(s) required to vest in
the warrants. At each reporting date, we would determine the current fair value of the portion of the warrants previously
earned and true-up the charges previously recorded. In addition, we would record a charge for the fair value of the additional
portion of the warrants earned during that period, again based on the customer’s progress towards the vesting milestones. This
would continue until the warrants vest, at which time a final fair value is determined and the charge is adjusted accordingly. At
the time we issued these warrants, accounting standards in place indicated that the charge for these type warrants be recorded
as an expense. Since then, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued
EITF 01-09,“Accounting for Consideration by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products).” This
guidance became effective for financial statements issued after December 15, 2001, and is retroactively applied to existing equity
instruments previously issued. It requires that the charge for the fair value of these types of warrants be recorded against
revenue up to the cumulative amount of revenue recognized for a customer instead of to expense as was previously the case.
Management must use judgment in determining when the vesting of a warrant becomes probable. As of June 30, 2002, we had
13 million unvested warrants outstanding that could potentially result in significant charges against our revenue, one million of
which could vest or will expire in September 2002; two million of which expire in June 2009; and ten million of which expire in
October 2010.
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In October 1999, we entered into an agreement with a third party in which we issued warrants on one million shares
of our stock, and the ability for the third party to earn an additional two million warrants. All such warrants are exercisable on
September 15, 2002, contingent upon achievement of various annual revenue targets and maintaining the existence of our
agreement through that date. In the quarter ended June 30, 2002 we determined it was probable that one million such warrants
would vest on their scheduled vesting date of September 15, 2002. With competition in our market, we cannot simply assume a
customer will remain a customer until we get close to the date in question. In addition, ongoing discussions relating to contract
extensions and their possible impact on existing terms affect our judgment as to the probability of vesting. In our judgment, we
believe it is probable that these warrants will vest and, accordingly, we recorded a charge of $2.7 million against our processing
and servicing revenue. We determined the amount of the charge using a Black-Scholes valuation of the warrants based on the
price of our stock on June 30, 2002, discounted for the non-marketability of the stock due to trading restrictions included in 
the warrant agreement; the strike price of the warrants; the volatility of our stock; the remaining life of the warrant; and the
risk-free interest rate at that time. Our judgment in this instance consisted of our estimate that the warrants would in fact 
vest by September 15, 2002.

For the remaining 12 million outstanding warrants, it is our judgment that vesting is not probable. Had we determined
vesting was probable or should vesting become probable in the future, it could result in significant charges against our revenue.
For example, had we determined it was probable that another one million of the remaining warrants would vest; we could
record an additional charge of as much as $3.9 million against our Electronic Commerce segment processing and servicing
revenue. A portion of this charge would have been recorded against our fiscal year 2002 revenue, with the remainder to be
recorded against future revenue as the customer progresses toward achieving the vesting milestones. In addition, the amounts
to be recorded each reporting period would fluctuate with changes in our stock price from period to period until such time as
the milestones are achieved and the warrants vest. Determining the probability of warrants vesting based on future volumes of
active subscribers or e-bills presented requires us to use judgment based on market conditions now and in the future, current
volumes of active subscribers, assumptions of activation of currently inactive subscribers, assumptions about growth in new
subscribers and the rate at which new subscribers become active versus recent trends, evolution of contractual terms as
relationships with partners evolve, and the assumed number of e-bills presented requires us to estimate the number of bills 
per active subscriber that will be presented and paid electronically versus by other means.

Deferred Income Taxes. As of June 30, 2002, we have $120 million of deferred income tax assets recorded on our
balance sheet, $12 million of which are recorded in the current asset section of our balance sheet, and $108 million of which
are netted against long-term deferred tax liabilities, in accordance with GAAP. Deferred income tax assets represent future tax
benefits we expect to be able to apply against future taxable income, and consist primarily of net operating loss benefits carried
forward to future periods. Our ability to utilize the deferred tax benefits is dependent upon our ability to generate future
taxable income. SFAS 109,“Accounting for Income Taxes” requires us to record a valuation allowance against any deferred
income tax benefits that we believe may expire before we generate sufficient taxable income to use them. If we were to record
a deferred tax benefit valuation allowance, it would have the effect of increasing our tax expense thereby decreasing our net
income and decreasing our deferred tax asset balance on our balance sheet. We use current estimates of future taxable income
to determine whether a valuation allowance is needed. Projecting our future taxable income requires us to use significant
judgment regarding the expected future revenues and expenses in each of our business segments. In addition, we must assume
that tax laws will not change sufficiently enough to materially impact the expected tax liability associated with our expected
taxable income. While our current projections indicate we will be able to fully utilize our deferred income tax benefits, should
the economic recession continue for an extended period of time, or competitive pressures or other business risks result in a
significant variance to our projected taxable income, we could be required to record a valuation allowance up to the full 
value of our deferred tax asset balances.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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Inflation

We believe that the effects of inflation have not had a significant impact on our results of operations.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

With the acquisition of BlueGill in April 2000, we obtained operations in Canada and we maintain offices in the
United Kingdom. As a result, we have assets and liabilities outside the United States that are subject to fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates. Due to the start up nature of each of these operations, however, we currently utilize the U.S. dollar 
as the functional currency for all international operations. As operations in Canada and the United Kingdom begin to generate
sufficient cash flow to provide for their own cash flow requirements, we will convert to local currency as the functional currency
in each related operating unit as appropriate. Because we utilize the U.S. dollar as the functional currency and due to the
immaterial nature of the amounts involved, our economic exposure from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates is not significant
enough at this time to engage in forward foreign exchange and other similar instruments.

While our international sales represented less than 2.2% of our revenue for the year ended June 30, 2002, we now
market, sell and license our products throughout the world. As a result, our future revenue could be affected by weak economic
conditions in foreign markets that could reduce demand for our products.

Our exposure to interest rate risk is limited to the yield we earn on invested cash, cash equivalents and investments
and interest based revenue earned on products such as our account balance transfer business. Our convertible debt carries a
fixed rate, as do any outstanding capital lease obligations. Our Investment Policy currently prohibits the use of derivatives for
trading or hedging purposes.
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Safe Harbor Statement Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

Except for the historical information contained herein, the matters discussed in our Annual Report include certain
forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act, as amended, and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which are intended to be covered by the safe harbors created thereby. Those
statements include, but may not be limited to, all statements regarding our and management’s intent, belief and expectations,
such as statements concerning our future profitability, and our operating and growth strategy. Investors are cautioned that all
forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties including, without limitation, the factors set forth under the caption
“Business – Business Risks” in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2002 and other factors detailed
from time to time in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. One or more of these factors have affected,
and in the future could affect, our businesses and financial results in the future and could cause actual results to differ materially
from plans and projections. Although we believe that the assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements contained
herein are reasonable, any of the assumptions could be inaccurate. Therefore, there can be no assurance that the forward-
looking statements included in this Annual Report will prove to be accurate. In light of the significant uncertainties inherent 
in the forward-looking statements included herein, the inclusion of such information should not be regarded as representations
by us or any other person that our objectives and plans will be achieved. All forward-looking statements made in this Annual
Report are based on information presently available to our management. We assume no obligation to update any forward-
looking statements.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of CheckFree Corporation and Subsidiaries:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CheckFree Corporation (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
as of June 30, 2001 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the
years ended June 30, 2000, 2001, and 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company and its subsidiaries at June 30, 2001 and 2002, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years
ended June 30, 2000, 2001, and 2002 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Atlanta, Georgia
August 8, 2002

CheckFree Corporat ion and Subs id iar ies

Independent Auditors’ Report
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June 30,
2001 2002

(In thousands, except share data)

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents $   124,122) $   115,009)
Investments 35,930) 90,958)
Accounts receivable, net 88,818) 88,030)
Prepaid expenses and other assets 8,681) 8,355)
Deferred income taxes 13,725) 11,816)

Total current assets 271,276) 314,168)
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, Net 109,226) 95,625)
OTHER ASSETS:

Capitalized software, net 187,021) 71,845)
Goodwill, net 820,169) 530,758)
Strategic agreements, net 643,212) 519,275)
Other intangible assets, net 47,118) 24,609)
Investments 96,042) 69,788)
Restricted investments -) 3,000)
Other noncurrent assets 9,889) 8,409)

Total other assets 1,803,451) 1,227,684)
$ 2,183,953) $ 1,637,477)

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable $  19,084) $     10,049)
Accrued liabilities 60,090) 54,914)
Current portion of long-term obligations 4,528) 5,054)
Deferred revenue 44,913) 42,410)

Total current liabilities 128,615) 112,427)
ACCRUED RENT AND OTHER 4,758) 4,080)
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES 141,853) 39,993)
OBLIGATIONS UNDER CAPITAL LEASES – Less current portion 4,041) 2,816)
CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED NOTES 172,500) 172,500)
COMMITMENTS (Note 12)
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:

Preferred stock – 50,000,000 authorized shares, $0.01 par value;
no amounts issued or outstanding -) -)

Common stock – 500,000,000 authorized shares, $0.01 par value;
issued 92,472,299 and 93,629,718 shares, respectively;
outstanding 86,928,475 and 88,085,894 shares, respectively 869) 881)

Additional paid-in-capital 2,420,957) 2,435,310)
Accumulated deficit (689,455) (1,130,405)
Unearned compensation (185) (125)

Total stockholders’ equity 1,732,186) 1,305,661)
$ 2,183,953) $ 1,637,477)

Consolidated Balance Sheets
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Year Ended June 30,
2000 2001 2002

(In thousands, except share data)

REVENUES:
Processing and servicing $   261,621) $   362,051) $ 422,237)
License fees 16,818) 30,180) 25,020)
Maintenance fees 18,752) 21,332) 24,298)
Other 13,004) 19,757) 18,922)

Total revenues 310,195) 433,320) 490,477)

EXPENSES:
Cost of processing, servicing and support 182,540) 255,528) 262,105)
Research and development 35,631) 55,621) 55,172)
Sales and marketing 44,782) 90,283) 58,030)
General and administrative 40,931) 50,474) 43,687)
Depreciation and amortization 42,830) 427,495) 435,565)
In-process research and development 6,900) 18,600) -)
Impairment of intangible assets -) -) 155,072)
Reorganization charge -) -) 16,365)

Total expenses 353,614) 898,001) 1,025,996)
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS (43,419) (464,681) (535,519)
OTHER:

Interest income 7,689) 15,415) 8,486)
Interest expense (8,027) (13,154) (12,788)
Loss on investments -) (16,077) -)

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES (43,757) (478,497) (539,821)
INCOME TAX BENEFIT (11,437) (115,362) (98,871)
NET LOSS $  (32,320) $ (363,135) $  (440,950)

BASIC LOSS PER SHARE:
Net loss per common share $     (0.61) $    (4.49) $     (5.04)
Equivalent number of shares 53,367,339) 80,863,100) 87,452,339)

DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE:
Net loss per common share $     (0.61) $     (4.49) $     (5.04)
Equivalent number of shares 53,367,339) 80,863,100) 87,452,339)

CheckFree Corporat ion and Subs id iar ies

Consolidated Statements of Operations
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(In thousands, except share data)

Number of
Shares of Common
Common Stock at

Stock Par

BALANCE – JUNE 30, 1999 51,756,278 $ 518
Net loss - -
Stock options and warrants exercised 1,795,785 18
Employee stock purchases 99,010 1
401(k) match 36,226 -
Issuance of common stock pursuant to acquisition 4,713,736 47
Issuance of restricted stock 13,000 -
Amortization of unearned compensation - -
Tax benefit associated with exercise of stock options and warrants - -

BALANCE – JUNE 30, 2000 58,414,035 584
Net loss - -
Stock options and warrants exercised 1,369,885 14
Employee stock purchases 92,721 1
401(k) match 51,834 -
Issuance of common stock pursuant to acquisition 27,000,000 270
Amortization of unearned compensation - -
Tax benefit associated with exercise of stock options and warrants - -

BALANCE – JUNE 30, 2001 86,928,475 869
Net loss - -
Stock options and warrants exercised 808,163 9
Employee stock purchases 216,369 2
401(k) match 132,887 1
Charge associated with warrants - -
Amortization of unearned compensation - -
Tax benefit associated with exercise of stock options and warrants - -

BALANCE – JUNE 30, 2002 88,085,894 $ 881

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
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Additional Total
Paid-In Unearned Accumulated Stockholders’
Capital Compensation Deficit Equity

$ 480,385 $       -) $ (294,000) $   186,903)
- -) (32,320) (32,320)

35,224 -) -) 35,242)
2,285 -) -) 2,286)
1,059 -) -) 1,059)

239,447 -) -) 239,494)
333 (333) -) -)

- 71) -) 71)
13,159 -) -) 13,159)

771,892 (262) (326,320) 445,894)
- -) (363,135) (363,135)

22,609 -) -) 22,623)
3,623 -) -) 3,624)
2,487 -) -) 2,487)

1,601,723 -) -) 1,601,993)
- 77) -) 77)

18,623 -) -) 18,623)
2,420,957 (185) (689,455) 1,732,186)

- -) (440,950) (440,950)
2,964 -) -) 2,973)
4,453 -) -) 4,455)
3,620 -) -) 3,621)
2,748 -) -) 2,748)

- 60) -) 60)
568 -) -) 568)

$ 2,435,310 $ (125) $ (1,130,405) $ 1,305,661)



Year Ended June 30,
2000 2001 2002

(In thousands)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net loss $ (32,320) $ (363,135) $ (440,950)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by 

(used in) operating activities:
Write off of in-process research and development 6,900) 18,600) -)
Loss on investments -) 16,077) -)
Depreciation and amortization 42,830) 427,495) 435,565)
Deferred income tax benefit (11,437) (115,362) (99,152)
Impairment of intangible assets -) -) 155,072)
Charge associated with warrants -) -) 2,748)
Non-cash portion of reorganization charge -) -) 1,640)
Net loss on disposition of property and equipment -) 56) 55)
Purchases of investments – Trading (19,002) (12,369) -)
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments, net – Trading 22,608) 19,029) -)
Change in certain assets and liabilities (net of acquisitions and dispositions):

Accounts receivable (14,499) (30,510) 788)
Prepaid expenses and other 644) 1,688) 2,676)
Accounts payable (4,153) 8,926) (9,035)
Accrued liabilities and other 20,259) 16,808) (1,212)
Deferred revenue 9,188) 10,698) (2,503)
Income tax accounts (2) 1,765) 177)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 21,016) (234) 45,869)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of property and software (39,495) (41,701) (21,980)
Proceeds from sale of assets -) 2,257) -)
Capitalization of software development costs (7,576) (4,927) (4,435)
Purchase of business, net of cash acquired 9,152) 96,599) -)
Capitalization of strategic agreement costs -) (10,279) -)
Purchases of investments – Held to maturity (70,796) (145,997) (100,715)
Increase in restricted investments -) -) (3,000)
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments – Held to maturity 9,780) 79,041) 72,329)
Purchase of other investments (10,000) (1,881) (388)

Net cash used in investing activities (108,935) (26,888) (58,189)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Principal payments under capital lease and other long-term obligations (1,495) (3,847) (3,553)
Proceeds from stock options exercised 9,721) 6,940) 2,285)
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan 2,903) 4,374) 3,787)
Proceeds from sale of stock and exercise of warrants 25,515) 15,703) 688)
Proceeds from issuance of convertible subordinated notes 166,903) -) -)

Net cash provided by financing activities 203,547) 23,170) 3,207)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 115,628) (3,952) (9,113)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:

Beginning of period 12,446) 128,074) 124,122)
End of period $ 128,074) $  124,122) $  115,009)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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� NOTE 1.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization – CheckFree Corporation (the “Company”) is the parent company of CheckFree Services Corporation
(“CheckFree Services”), the principal operating company of the business. In April 2000, CheckFree Services changed its name
from CheckFree Corporation to CheckFree Services Corporation. Following that change, in August 2000, CheckFree Holdings
Corporation changed its name to CheckFree Corporation. CheckFree Services was organized in 1981 and is a leading provider
of financial electronic commerce products and services. See Note 20 for a description of the Company’s business segments.

Principles of Consolidation – The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the results of operations of the
Company, its wholly-owned subsidiaries, and CheckFree Management Corporation, of which the Company is the majority
owner. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates – The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Business Combinations – For business combinations that have been accounted for under the purchase method of
accounting, the Company includes the results of operations of the acquired business from the date of acquisition. Net assets 
of the companies acquired are recorded at their fair value at the date of acquisition. The excess of the purchase price over the
fair value of tangible and identifiable intangible net assets acquired is included in goodwill.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 141,“Business Combinations,” eliminated the pooling-of-interest method
of accounting for business combinations and requires all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001, to be accounted for
using the purchase method. In addition, SFAS 142,“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” requires application of the provisions
of SFAS 142 for goodwill and other intangible assets related to any business combinations completed after June 30, 2001, but
prior to the adoption date of SFAS 142. The Company will adopt FAS 142 on July 1, 2002, however, there have been no
acquisitions completed since June 30, 2001. All previous acquisitions have been accounted for using the purchase method.

Processing Agreements – The Company has agreements with transaction processors to provide origination and settlement
services for the Company. Under the agreements, the Company must fund service fees and returned transactions when
presented. These agreements expire at various dates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents – The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with maturities of three
months or less to be cash equivalents.

Investments – The Company has certain investments in marketable debt securities that are classified as either available-
for-sale, trading or held-to-maturity in accordance with SFAS 115,“Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities.” At June 30, 2001 and 2002, all such investments are classified as held to maturity. Held-to-maturity securities are
carried at amortized cost and are adjusted only for other than temporary declines in fair value. Restricted investments
represent amounts that are restricted as to their use in accordance with leasing arrangements.

The Company has certain other investments in equity and debt securities that are accounted for under the cost method.
Under the cost method of accounting, investments are carried at cost and are adjusted only for other-than-temporary declines
in fair value, distributions of earnings and additional investments.

The Company periodically evaluates whether any declines in fair value of its investments are other than temporary. In
performing this evaluation, the Company considers various factors including any decline in market price, where available, the
investee’s financial condition, results of operations, operating trends and other financial ratios.

The Company has received equity instruments in connection with agreements with certain partners. In such cases, the
Company’s initial cost is determined based on the estimated fair value of the equity instruments received. Subsequent changes 
in the fair value of these equity instruments are accounted for in accordance with the investment policies described above.

CheckFree Corporat ion and Subs id iar ies

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
As of and for the Years Ended June 30, 2000, 2001 and 2002
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Concentrations of Credit Risk – Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit
risks consist of cash, investments and trade accounts receivable. Excess cash is invested through banks, mutual funds and
brokerage houses primarily in highly liquid securities. The Company has investment policies and procedures that limit any
concentration of credit risk with single issuers. With respect to accounts receivable, the Company does not generally require
collateral and believes that any credit risk is substantially mitigated by the nature of our customers and reasonably short
collection terms. The Company maintains reserves for potential credit losses on customer accounts when deemed necessary.

Derivative Financial Instruments – On July 1, 2000, the Company adopted SFAS 133,“Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by SFAS 138,“Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain
Hedging Activities,” which requires that all derivative financial instruments be recognized as either assets or liabilities in the
balance sheet. SFAS 133, as amended, requires the Company to recognize all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value.
Derivatives that are not hedges must be adjusted to fair value through income. If the derivative is a hedge, depending on the
nature of the hedge, changes in the fair value of derivatives are either offset against the change in fair value of assets, liabilities,
or firm commitments through earnings or recognized in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in
earnings. The ineffective portion of a derivative’s change in fair value is immediately recognized in earnings.

The Company’s Investment Policy currently prohibits the use of derivatives for trading or hedging purposes. Additionally, the
Company performs reviews of its contracts and has determined that they contain no “embedded derivatives” that require
separate reporting and disclosure under SFAS 133, as amended. As such, the adoption of SFAS 133, as amended, did not have a
material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

Property and Equipment – Property and equipment are stated at cost. Property and equipment are depreciated using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives as follows: land improvements, building and building improvements, 15 to 30
years; computer equipment, software and furniture, 18 months to 7 years. Equipment under capital leases are amortized using
the straight-line method over the lesser of their estimated useful lives or the terms of the leases. Leasehold improvements are
amortized over the lesser of the estimated useful lives or remaining lease periods.

Capitalized Software – Capitalized software includes purchased technology intangible assets associated with acquisitions and
capitalized internal development costs. Purchased technology intangibles are initially recorded based on the fair value ascribed 
at the time of acquisition. Internal development costs are capitalized in accordance with the provisions of either SFAS 86,
“Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed,” or Statement of Position
(“SOP”) 98-1,“Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use.” The Company
determines whether software costs fall under the provisions of SFAS 86 or SOP 98-1 and accounts for them as follows:

� SFAS 86- Software development costs incurred prior to the establishment of technological feasibility are expensed as
incurred. Software development costs incurred after the technological feasibility of the subject software product has been
established are capitalized in accordance with SFAS 86. Capitalized software costs are amortized on a product-by-product
basis using either the estimated economic life of the product on a straight-line basis over three to five years, or the current
year gross product revenue to the current and anticipated future gross product revenue, whichever is greater. Unamortized
software development costs in excess of estimated future net revenues from a particular product are written down to
estimated net realizable value.

� SOP 98-1- Software costs incurred in the preliminary project stage are expensed as incurred. Software costs incurred after
the preliminary project stage is complete, management has committed to the project, and it is probable the software will be
used to perform the function intended are capitalized in accordance with SOP 98-1. Capitalized software costs are amortized
on a product-by-product basis using the estimated economic life of the product on a straight-line basis, generally three to five
years. Capitalized software costs not expected to be completed and placed in service are written down to estimated net
realizable value.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets – Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net
assets acquired in business combinations accounted for under the purchase method. Goodwill is amortized on a straight-line
basis over 5 to 10 years.

Other intangibles represent identifiable intangible assets purchased by the Company in connection with business combinations.
The costs of identified intangible assets are generally amortized on a straight-line basis over periods from 8 months to 10 years.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Impairment of Long-lived Assets – In accordance with SFAS 121,“Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and
for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of,” the Company reviews its long-lived assets, including identifiable intangible assets and
goodwill related to those assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of these assets may not be recoverable. If such a review is warranted, recoverability is measured by comparison of the carrying
amount of the applicable long-lived assets to future undiscounted net cash flows the assets are expected to generate. If assets
are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of
the assets exceeds their fair market value. During the year ended June 30, 2002, the Company performed a review of certain 
of its long-lived assets and determined that certain assets were impaired. See Note 7 for a description of this review.

Transaction Processing – In connection with the timing of the Company’s financial transaction processing, the Company is
exposed to credit risk in the event of nonperformance by other parties, such as returns and charge backs. The Company utilizes
credit analysis and other controls to manage its credit risk exposure. The Company also maintains a reserve for future returns
and charge backs. This reserve is included in accrued liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Comprehensive Income – Where applicable, the Company reports comprehensive income in accordance with SFAS 130,
“Reporting Comprehensive Income.” The Statement requires disclosure of total non-shareowner changes in equity and its
components. Total non-shareowner changes in equity include all changes in equity during a period except those resulting from
investments by and distributions to shareowners. The components of other comprehensive income applicable to the Company
would be unrealized holding gains or losses on the Company’s available-for-sale securities and certain transactions associated
with derivative instruments. There were no available-for-sale securities held or derivative instrument transactions during the
years ended June 30, 2000, 2001 and 2002. As a result, there were no components of comprehensive income applicable to the
Company during the years ending June 30, 2000, 2001 and 2002.

Stock-Based Compensation – The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with the provisions of
Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25,“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations.
Accordingly, compensation expense is not required to be recorded when stock options are granted to employees as long as 
the exercise price is not less than the fair market value of the stock when the option is granted, and in connection with our
Employee Stock Purchase Plan as long as the purchase price is not less than 85% of the lower of the fair market value at the
beginning or end of each offer period. In October 1995, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” SFAS 123 allows the Company to continue to follow the present APB 25
guidelines, but requires pro-forma disclosures of net income and earnings per share as if the Company had adopted the
provisions of the Statement.

Stock-Related Transactions With Third Parties – The Company accounts for stock warrants issued to third parties,
including customers, in accordance with the provisions of the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue 96-18,“Accounting for
Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services,”
and EITF 01-9,“Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products).”
Under the provisions of EITF 96-18, because none of the Company’s agreements have a disincentive for non-performance, the
Company records a charge for the fair value of the portion of the warrants earned from the point in time when vesting of the
warrants become probable. Final determination of fair value of the warrants occurs upon actual vesting. EITF 01-9, which
became effective during the quarter ended March 31, 2002, requires that the fair value charge for certain types of warrants
issued to customers be recorded as a reduction of revenue to the extent of cumulative revenue recorded from that customer.

Basic and Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share – The Company reports Basic and Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS 128 “Earnings Per Share.” Basic earnings (loss) per common share is determined by
dividing income (loss) available to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding.
Diluted per-common-share amounts assume the issuance of common stock for all potentially dilutive equivalent shares
outstanding.

Foreign Currency Translation – Effective with the acquisition of BlueGill Technologies, Inc. on April 28, 2000, certain wholly
owned subsidiaries of the Company have foreign operations. The financial statements of these foreign subsidiaries are measured
using the US dollar as the functional currency. Assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are remeasured using current and
historical exchange rates in accordance with SFAS No. 52,“Foreign Currency Translation.” Translation gains and losses resulting
from the remeasurement process are included in the determination of net income. The net translation losses for the years
ended June 30, 2001 and 2002, and the period from April 28, 2000 to June 30, 2000, were not significant.
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Revenue Recognition – In 1999, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”)
No. 101,“Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements.” The SAB provides guidance on the recognition, presentation and
disclosure of revenue in financial statements filed with the SEC. Although SAB No. 101 does not change any of the existing
accounting standards on revenue recognition, it draws upon existing rules and explains how the SEC staff applies these rules,
by analogy, to other transactions that existing rules do not specifically address. SAB No. 101, as amended by SAB No. 101B,
became effective for the fourth quarter of the Company’s 2001 fiscal year. The adoption of SAB No. 101 did not have an impact
on the Company’s results of operations or financial position.

� Processing and servicing – Processing and servicing revenues include revenues from transaction processing, electronic funds
transfer and monthly service fees on consumer funds transfer services. The Company recognizes revenue when the services
are performed.

As part of processing certain types of transactions, the Company earns interest from the time money is collected from its
customers until the time payment is made to the applicable merchants. These revenues, which are generated from trust
account balances not included on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets, are included in processing and servicing
revenue and totaled $21,485,000, $30,186,000 and $25,090,000 for the years ended June 30, 2000, 2001 and 2002,
respectively.

� License fees – The Company recognizes revenue on software transactions in accordance with SOP 97-2,“Software Revenue
Recognition.” In accordance with the provisions of SOP 97-2, the Company recognizes revenue from software license
agreements when there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists, the fee is fixed and determinable, collectibility 
is probable and the software has been shipped, provided that no significant obligation remains under the contract.

� Maintenance fees – Upon receipt of payment, maintenance fee revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the related
contractual support period, generally 12 months.

� Other – Other revenue consists primarily of consulting and training services. Consulting revenue is recognized principally 
on a percentage-of-completion basis and training revenue is recognized upon delivery of the related service.

Customers are billed in accordance with contract terms. Maintenance revenue is generally billed on an annual basis. The
Company records any unrecognizable portion of billed fees as deferred revenue until such time as revenue recognition is
appropriate.

Estimated losses, if any, on contracts are provided for when probable. Estimated loss provisions are based on excess costs 
over the revenues earned from the contract. Credit losses, if any, are contemplated in the establishment of the allowance for
doubtful accounts.

Expense Classification

� Processing, servicing and support – Processing, servicing and support costs consist primarily of data processing costs, customer
care and technical support and third party transaction fees, which consist primarily of ACH transaction fees.

� Research and development – Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and consulting fees paid to
software engineers and business development personnel, and are reported net of applicable capitalized development costs.

� Sales and marketing – Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries and commissions of sales employees, public
relations and advertising costs, customer acquisition fees and royalties paid to distribution partners.

� General and administrative – General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries for administrative, executive,
finance and human resource employees.

� Depreciation and amortization – Depreciation and amortization on capitalized assets is recorded on a straight-line basis over
the appropriate useful lives.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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� In-process research and development – In-process research and development consists of charges resulting from acquisitions
whereby the purchase price allocated to in-process software development was based on the determination that in-process
research and development had no alternative future use after taking into consideration the potential for usage of the software
in different products, resale of the software or other internal use.

� Impairment of intangible assets – Impairment of intangible assets consists of charges resulting from the review of certain of the
Company’s long-lived assets as described in Note 7.

� Reorganization charge – Reorganization charge resulted from the Company’s decision to streamline certain of its operations as
more fully described in Note 17. Employee and other related exit costs were accounted for in accordance with EITF 94-3,
“Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs
Incurred in a Restructuring).” EITF 94-3 requires recognition of a liability for employee termination benefits and other costs
directly associated with exiting an activity at the point in time management has committed to the exit plan, informed employees
of termination benefits to be received and where the plan can be carried out without the likelihood of significant change.

Advertising Costs – The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred in accordance with SOP 93-7,“Reporting on
Advertising Costs.” Advertising expenses were not significant for the year ended June 30, 2000. Advertising expense for the
years ended June 30, 2001 and 2002 were $29,925,000 and $2,744,000, respectively, including $25,000,000 provided to Bank of
America during the year ended June 30, 2001 in connection with the Strategic Agreement described in Note 3. Advertising
expenses are included in sales and marketing costs in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Income Taxes –  The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS 109,“Accounting for Income Taxes,” which
requires an asset and liability approach to financial accounting and reporting for income taxes. In accordance with SFAS 109,
deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed annually for differences between the financial statement and tax bases 
of assets and liabilities that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future based on enacted tax laws and rates
applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Income tax expense (benefit) is the 
tax payable or refundable for the period plus or minus the change during the period in deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Business Segments – The Company reports information about its business segments in accordance with SFAS 131,
“Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.” The Statement defines how operating segments are
determined and requires disclosure of certain financial and descriptive information about a company’s operating segments.
See Note 20 for the Company’s segment information.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements – On July 20, 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 141,“Business Combinations” and SFAS
142,“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS 141 requires all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to be
accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. In addition, it requires application of the provisions of SFAS 142 
for goodwill and other intangible assets related to any business combinations completed after June 30, 2001, but prior to the
adoption date of SFAS 142. SFAS 142 changes the accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets. Upon adoption, goodwill
is no longer subject to amortization over its estimated useful life. Rather, goodwill will be subject to at least an annual
assessment for impairment by applying a fair-value-based test. All other acquired intangibles will be separately recognized if 
the benefit of the intangible asset is obtained through contractual or other legal rights, or if the intangible asset can be sold,
transferred, licensed, or exchanged, regardless of the Company’s intent to do so. Other intangibles will be amortized over their
useful lives.

SFAS 142 becomes effective for the Company on July 1, 2002 and will have the following impacts:

� The Company will be required to reclassify approximately $1.3 million of unamortized workforce in place intangible
assets, net of the associated deferred income taxes, into goodwill.

� After the reclassification above, the goodwill balance of approximately $532 million will no longer be amortized.
The resulting reduction in amortization expense is estimated at approximately $165 million for each of the
Company’s fiscal years 2003, 2004 and 2005.
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� The Company is required to perform a transitional impairment test as of July 1, 2002. This impairment test requires
the Company to (1) identify its reporting units, (2) determine the carrying value of each reporting unit by assigning
assets and liabilities, including existing goodwill and intangible assets, to those reporting units, and (3) determine the
fair value of each reporting unit. If the carrying value of any reporting unit exceeds its fair value, then the amount 
of any goodwill impairment will be determined through a fair value analysis of each of the assigned assets (excluding
goodwill) and liabilities.

The Company has substantially completed its transitional impairment test and expects to record a charge in the range of 
$2 to $5 million for impairment of goodwill associated with its i-Solutions reporting unit. This charge will be reflected as the
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in the financial statements for the period ended September 30, 2002.

Following the transitional impairment test, the Company’s goodwill balances will be subject to annual impairment tests using 
the same process described above. If any impairment is indicated as a result of the annual test, an impairment charge would 
be recorded as part of income from operations.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 143,“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” SFAS 143 addresses financial
accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated
retirement costs. The adoption of SFAS 143 is effective for the Company for fiscal 2003. The Company does not expect that 
the adoption of this statement will have a significant impact on its results of operations and financial position.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 144,“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” SFAS 144
supersedes SFAS 121,“Accounting for Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of” and the
accounting and reporting provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion 30,“Reporting Results of Operations – Reporting
the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions”
for the disposal of a segment of a business. SFAS 144 addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or
disposal of long-lived assets and will be effective for the Company’s first quarter of fiscal 2003. The Company does not expect
that the adoption of this statement will have a significant impact on its results of operations and financial position.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 145,“Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64,Amendment of FASB Statement No.
13, and Technical Corrections.” This statement eliminates the current requirement that gains and losses on extinguishment of
debt must be classified as extraordinary items in the income statement. Instead, the statement requires that gains and losses 
on extinguishment of debt be evaluated against the criteria in Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion 30,“Reporting the
Results of Operations-Discontinued Events and Extraordinary Items” to determine whether or not it should be classified as an
extraordinary item. In addition, the statement contains other corrections to authoritative accounting literature in SFAS 4, 44
and 64. The changes in SFAS 145 related to debt extinguishment will be effective for the Company’s 2003 fiscal year and the
other changes were effective beginning with transactions after May 15, 2002. In August 2002, the Company announced that its
board of directors had authorized a repurchase program under which the Company may purchase shares of its common stock
and convertible notes. Should the Company purchase any of its convertible notes and realize a gain or loss on the transaction,
SFAS 145 will require the Company to evaluate the transaction against the criteria in APB 30 to determine if the gain or loss
should be classified as an extraordinary item. If classification as an extraordinary item is not appropriate, the gain or loss would
be included as part of income from operations.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 146,“Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” which addresses
accounting for reorganization and similar costs. SFAS 146 supersedes previous accounting guidance, principally EITF 94-3. SFAS
146 requires that the liability for costs associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred.
Under EITF No. 94-3, a liability for an exit cost was recognized at the date of a company’s commitment to an exit plan. SFAS
146 also establishes that the liability should initially be measured and recorded at fair value. Accordingly, SFAS 146 may affect 
the timing of recognizing any future reorganization costs as well as the amount recognized. The provisions of SFAS 146 are
effective for reorganization activities initiated after December 31, 2002.

Reclassifications – Certain amounts in the prior years’ financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the 
2002 presentation.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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� NOTE 2.
Acquisitions

TransPoint – On September 1, 2000, the Company acquired MSFDC, L.L.C. (“TransPoint”) for a total of $1.4 billion, consisting
of 17,000,000 shares of common stock valued at $1.4 billion and $2 million of acquisition costs. The acquisition was treated as a
purchase for accounting purposes, and, accordingly, the assets and liabilities were recorded based on their fair values at the date
of the acquisition. The values ascribed to acquired intangible assets and their respective future lives are as follows:

Intangible Useful
Asset Life

(In thousands)

Goodwill $ 780,545 5.0 yrs
Strategic agreements 495,000 5.0 yrs
Existing product technology 209,300 3.0 yrs
Customer list 29,000 3.0 yrs
Tradename 28,300 1.0 yrs

Amortization of intangible assets is on a straight-line basis over the assets’ respective useful life. TransPoint’s operations are
included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations from the date of acquisition.

In connection with the acquisition of TransPoint, the Company recorded a charge of $18.6 million for purchased In-Process
Research and Development (“IPR&D”). This charge related to four technologies under development that had not demonstrated
technological feasibility as of the transaction date. These technologies were Biller Integration System and Communications,
Service Center, Delivery Applications and Payment Systems Interface. As of the acquisition date, the Company estimated that
these projects were 80% complete, that an aggregate of $717,000 would be required to complete these four projects, and that
revenues would begin in late 2000. An after-tax rate of 24% was used in this analysis. As of June 30, 2002, these projects were
complete.

BlueGill – On April 28, 2000, the Company acquired BlueGill Technologies, Inc. (“BlueGill”) for a total of $239.9 million,
consisting of 4,713,736 shares of common stock valued at $221.5 million, the issuance of 637,746 employee stock options
valued at $18.5 million and $0.6 million of acquisition costs less $0.7 million of cash received for the release of shares placed 
in escrow per the merger agreement. The acquisition was treated as a purchase for accounting purposes, and, accordingly,
the assets and liabilities were recorded based on their fair market values at the date of the acquisition. The values ascribed 
to acquired intangible assets and their respective useful lives are as follows:

Intangible Useful
Asset Life

(In thousands)

Goodwill $ 191,072 5.0 yrs
Tradename 15,100 1.0 yrs
Existing product technology 13,700 3.7 yrs
Customer list 10,600 5.0 yrs
Workforce in place 2,600 3.0 yrs
Covenants not to compete 1,200 1.0 yrs

Amortization of intangible assets is on a straight-line basis over the assets’ respective useful life. BlueGill’s operations are
included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations from the date of acquisition.
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In connection with the acquisition of BlueGill Technologies, the Company recorded a charge of $6.9 million for purchased
IPR&D. This charge related to five technologies, which had not demonstrated technological or commercial feasibility as of the
transaction date. They were print and extraction technology, data management engine technology,API technology, web
application technologies and payment/OFX technology. As of the acquisition date, the Company estimated that these projects
ranged from 10% to 50% complete, that an aggregate of $2.1 million would be required to complete these five projects, and that,
depending upon the project, product revenues would begin in mid-to-late 2000. An after-tax discount rate of 25% was used in
this analysis. As of June 30, 2002, these projects were complete.

Pro Forma Information – The unaudited pro forma results of operations of the Company for the years ended June 30, 2000
and 2001, assuming the acquisitions occurred at the beginning of the period are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended June 30,
2000 2001

Total revenues $   316,830) $   433,329) 
Net loss $  (406,582) $  (402,193) 
Basic and Diluted loss per share:

Net loss per common share $       (5.42) $ (4.80)
Equivalent number of shares 75,078) 83,797)

This information is presented to facilitate meaningful comparisons to on going operations and to other companies. The
unaudited pro forma amounts above do not include a charge for in-process research and development of $18.6 million arising
from the TransPoint acquisition in 2001 and $6.9 million arising from the BlueGill acquisition in 2000. The unaudited pro forma
information is not necessarily indicative of the actual results of operations had the transactions occurred at the beginning of the
periods presented, nor should it be used to project the Company’s results of operations for any future periods.

� NOTE 3.
Strategic Agreement

Effective October 1, 2000, the Company completed a previously announced ten-year strategic agreement with Bank of America,
whereby the Company acquired the electronic billing and payment assets of Bank of America and will provide electronic billing
and payment services to Bank of America’s customer base in exchange for ten million shares of the Company’s common stock,
valued at approximately $253 million, and $35 million of cash. Of the cash portion of the purchase price, $25 million was
provided to help support an agreed upon two year $45 million marketing campaign by Bank of America. Because the Company
cannot directly impact the specific nature, timing or extent of the use of the marketing funds, the entire $25 million was
expensed upon completion of the agreement. This amount is included in sales and marketing expense in the accompanying
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended June 30, 2001.

The values ascribed to intangible assets acquired as a result of the agreement and their respective useful lives are as follows:

Intangible Useful
Asset Life

(In thousands)

Strategic agreement $ 249,424 10.0 yrs
Existing product technology 7,659 1.5 yrs
Workforce 3,173 3.0 yrs

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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The agreement provides for a revenue guarantee of $500 million to the Company over the next ten years. Bank of America also
has the ability to earn warrants on up to ten million additional shares upon achievement of certain milestones more fully
described in Note 14.

As a result of the agreement, as of June 30, 2001 and 2002, Bank of America owned 11.5% and 11.4% of the Company,
respectively. The following amounts related to Bank of America are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements
for the periods indicated (in thousands):

June 30,
2001 2002

Current assets:
Accounts receivable, net $   9,655 $ 22,632

Total current assets $   9,655 $ 22,632 

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $   5,983 $         -
Accrued liabilities 2,111 808
Deferred revenues 477 824

Total current liabilities $   8,571 $ 1,632

Year Ended June 30,
2000 2001 2002

Revenues from Bank of America:
Processing and servicing $ 14,796 $ 42,503 $ 59,313
License fees 2 1,187 40
Maintenance fees 209 460 521
Other 142 337 148

Total revenues $ 15,149 $ 44,487 $ 60,022

Year Ended June 30,
2000 2001 2002

Expenses paid to Bank of America:
Cost of processing, servicing and support $ - $ 23,154 $ 20,020
Sales and marketing - 25,000 -

Total expenses $       - $ 48,154 $ 20,020

Revenues and accounts receivable relate to all segments of the Company, but primarily to electronic billing and payment services
provided to Bank of America. Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and cost of processing expenses relate to reimbursements to
Bank of America in connection with a transition services agreement in place while the Company completed the conversion of
Bank of America customers to its processing platform. That conversion was completed during the year ended June 30, 2002.
The Company subleases office space from Bank of America for two customer care facilities. Amounts paid under the sublease
agreements are included in cost of processing, servicing and support in the table above.
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� NOTE 4.
Investments

Investments consist of the following (in thousands):

June 30,
2001 2002

Held-to-Maturity $ 239,507) $ 254,074)
Other investments 3,296) 3,683)
Less: amounts classified as cash equivalents 110,831) 94,011)

Total investments $ 131,972) $ 163,746)

Held-to-Maturity – The following is a summary of Held-to-Maturity investment securities (in thousands):

Amortized Gross Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

June 30, 2001:
Corporate bonds $ 75,627) $ 226 $ (404) $ 75,449)
Asset-backed securities 29,259) 74 -) 29,333)
Commercial paper 51,186) 43 (9) 51,220)
Certificates of deposit -) - -) -)
U.S. Government and federal agency obligations 22,466) 254 -) 22,720)
Money market funds 60,969) - -) 60,969)
Held-to-Maturity investments 239,507) 597 (413) 239,691)
Less: amounts classified as cash equivalents 110,831) - -) 110,831)

Total Held-to-Maturity Investments $ 128,676) $ 597 $ (413) $ 128,860)

June 30, 2002:
Corporate bonds $ 96,951) $ 490 $ (523) $ 96,918)
Asset-backed securities 39,142) 428 (10) 39,560)
Commercial paper 15,939) - -) 15,939)
Certificates of deposit 3,000) - -) 3,000)
U.S. Government and federal agency obligations 23,460) 148 -) 23,608)
Money market funds 75,582) - -) 75,582)
Held-to-Maturity investments 254,074) 1,066 (533) 254,607)
Less: amounts classified as cash equivalents 94,011) - -) 94,011)

Total Held-to-Maturity Investments $ 160,063) $ 1,066 $ (533) $ 160,596)

The fair value of Held-to-Maturity securities is based on quoted market values.

The amortized cost and fair value of held-to-maturity investment securities at June 30, 2002 by contractual maturity or repricing
date are as follows (in thousands):

Amortized
Cost Fair Value

Due in one year or less $ 90,958 $ 91,210
Due after one year through five years 69,105 69,386

Total $ 160,063 $ 160,596

Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because debt issuers may have the right to call or prepay obligations
with or without call or prepayment penalties.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Other investments – Other investments are accounted for under the cost method and include the following (in thousands):

June 30,
2001 2002

Common stock and warrants $ 2,198 $ 2,239
Convertible debenture 1,000 1,000
Preferred stock 98 98
Venture capital partnership - 346

Total other investments $ 3,296 $ 3,683

Common stock and warrants consist primarily of the Company’s strategic investment in Billserv.com common stock, which is
subject to certain trading restrictions. The remainder of common stock and warrants, convertible debenture and preferred 
stock investments are in non-publicly traded e-billing related companies. The convertible debenture bears interest at 6.5% per
annum and is payable in full on September 12, 2003. Interest is payable on December 31 and June 30 each year. The debenture
agreement allows the Company, at its option, to convert the note into common shares of the issuer, the number of which is
dependent upon the valuation of the issuer at that time. Conversion into common stock is automatic if the issuer completes an
initial public offering. The venture capital partnership invests in early to mid-stage financial solutions and technology companies.
The Company has made a commitment to invest $1 million in the partnership. Actual contributions are made at the point in
time the partnership identifies a specific company in which to invest. The fair value of other investments was approximately
$3,906,000 and $3,064,000 as of June 30, 2001 and 2002, respectively.

During the year ended June 30, 2001, the Company recorded a loss on certain of its other investments. The loss was the result
of the Company’s evaluation of any other-than-temporary decline in the value of these investments. In performing this evaluation
the Company considered various factors including any decline in market price, where available, the investee’s financial condition,
results of operations, operating trends and other financial ratios. Based in these factors, the Company recorded a loss of
$16,077,000.

Pledged investments – The Company has pledged certain held-to-maturity investments as collateral for payments due under
operating leases and for a standby letter of credit related to an operating lease. Total amount of securities pledged at June 30,
2002 was approximately $5,828,000, of which $3,000,000 is classified as a restricted investment. The operating leases expire at
various dates through December 31, 2004. The standby letter of credit expires on September 30, 2002, but is automatically
renewable through the underlying lease expiration date of September 30, 2004.

� NOTE 5.
Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consist of the following (in thousands):

June 30,
2001 2002

Trade accounts receivable $ 76,973 $ 80,292
Unbilled trade accounts receivable 8,875 4,746
Other receivables 5,933 4,992

Total 91,781 90,030
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts 2,963 2,000
Accounts receivable, net $ 88,818 $ 88,030

Trade accounts receivable represents amounts billed to customers. Revenue is recognized and customers are billed under
service agreements as the services are performed. Unbilled trade accounts receivable result primarily from extended payment
terms on software license agreements. For software contracts, revenue is recognized under the provisions of SOP 97-2 as
described in Note 1, and unbilled amounts under those software contracts are billed on specific dates according to contractual
terms. Other receivables are comprised primarily of interest receivable. The allowance for doubtful accounts represents
management’s estimate of uncollectible accounts receivable.
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� NOTE 6.
Property and Equipment

The components of property and equipment are as follows (in thousands):

June 30,
2001 2002

Land and land improvements $  4,944 $  4,944
Building and building improvements 50,732 51,162
Computer equipment and software licenses 132,850 148,962
Furniture and equipment 16,894 19,830

Total 205,420 224,898
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization 96,194 129,273
Property and equipment, net $ 109,226 $  95,625

Depreciation expense totaled $22,915,000, $30,442,000 and $36,430,000 for the years ended June 30, 2000, 2001 and 2002,
respectively.

� NOTE 7.
Intangible Assets

The components of the Company’s various intangible assets are as follows (in thousands):

June 30,
2001 2002

Capitalized software:
Product technology from acquisitions and strategic agreement $ 252,378 $ 166,578
Internal development costs 21,771 24,946

Total 274,149 191,524
Less: accumulated amortization 87,128 119,679
Capitalized software, net $ 187,021 $   71,845

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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June 30,
2001 2002

Goodwill:
Goodwill $1,009,834 $ 838,988
Less: accumulated amortization 189,665 308,230

Goodwill, net $ 820,169 $ 530,758

Strategic agreements:
Strategic agreements $ 744,424 $ 744,424
Less: accumulated amortization 101,212 225,149

Strategic agreements, net $ 643,212 $ 519,275

Other intangible assets:
Workforce $    11,944 $ 11,944
Tradenames 47,968 47,968
Customer base 45,358 45,358
Covenants not to compete 1,200 1,200

Total 106,470 106,470
Less: accumulated amortization 59,352 81,861
Other intangible assets, net $    47,118 $  24,609

Amortization of intangible assets totaled $19,915,000, $397,053,000 and $399,135,000 for the years ended June 30, 2000, 2001
and 2002, respectively.

Impairment of Intangible Assets 

CheckFree i-Solutions
During the year ended June 30, 2002, the Company identified certain indicators of possible impairment of its long-lived assets,
primarily goodwill and other acquired intangible assets, related to its acquisition of BlueGill Technologies, Inc. (currently referred
to as CheckFree i-Solutions). The main indicators of impairment were recent economic conditions, accompanied by internet-
based software industry trends that have negatively impacted both i-Solutions current operations, as well as its expected future
growth rates. The Company first evaluated recoverability by comparing the projected undiscounted cash flows of the i-Solutions
business, including an estimated terminal value, to the related carrying value of its long-lived assets. As a result of this comparison,
the Company determined that the i-Solutions assets were impaired. The amount of the impairment was then determined by
comparing the estimated fair value of the i-Solutions assets to the related carrying value. The fair value was determined using a
discounted cash flow approach for the net cash flows of the i-Solutions business and an estimated terminal value. The assumptions
supporting the estimated cash flows, including the discount rate and estimated terminal value, reflect management’s best
estimates at the time. As a result of the fair value test, the Company recorded a charge reducing the carrying value of 
CheckFree i-Solutions goodwill by $107,405,000. This amount is included in impairment of intangible assets in the Company’s
Consolidated Statement of Operations. CheckFree i-Solutions is included in the Company’s Software business segment.

TransPoint
During the year ended June 30, 2002, the Company performed a review of the carrying value of technology assets it acquired as
part of the TransPoint acquisition in September 2000. The review was prompted by the termination of the maintenance agreement
for this technology from the last of our international partners, and the conclusions reached by the Company in evaluating the
service potential of the technology against our present and future initiatives. As a result of the review, the Company identified
two technologies for which there is no future use and recorded a charge of $47,667,000 to retire these assets. The charge is
included in impairment of intangible assets in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations.
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The retirement of the TransPoint technology assets noted above was an indicator to the Company of possible impairment of its
long-lived assets, primarily goodwill and other acquired intangible assets, related to its acquisition of TransPoint. The Company
evaluated the recoverability of all its Electronic Commerce division long-lived assets by comparing the projected undiscounted
cash flows of the division, including an estimated terminal value, to the carrying value of its long-lived assets. The assumptions
supporting the estimated cash flows, including the estimated terminal value, reflect management’s best estimates at the time.
The result of this test indicated that there was no impairment of the Company’s Electronic Commerce division long-lived assets.

� NOTE 8.
Accrued Liabilities

The components of accrued liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

June 30,
2001 2002

Compensation and benefits $ 33,141 $ 28,147
Reorganization reserve - 7,800
Other 26,949 18,967

Total $ 60,090 $ 54,914

� NOTE 9.
Line of Credit

The Company has a line-of credit agreement, which expires on December 30, 2003. The agreement, which carries an interest
rate of LIBOR plus 200 basis points or Prime, enables the Company to borrow up to $30 million and contains certain financial
and operating covenants. No amounts were outstanding under the line at June 30, 2001 and 2002.

� NOTE 10.
Convertible Subordinated Notes

On November 29, 1999, the Company issued $172,500,000 of 6.5% convertible subordinated notes that are due on December
1, 2006. Interest on the notes is payable on June 1 and December 1 of each year, commencing on June 1, 2000. The notes may
be converted, at the holder’s option, into 13.6612 shares of common stock per $1,000 of note value, and the Company may
redeem the notes at any time on or after December 1, 2002. At June 30, 2002, none of the notes had been converted to
common stock. Interest expense on the notes for the years ended June 30, 2000, 2001 and 2002, was $7,307,000, $12,119,000
and $12,023,000, respectively. The fair value of the notes was approximately $151,400,000 and $148,500,000 as of June 30, 2001 
and 2002, respectively.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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� NOTE 11.
Capital Lease and Other Long-Term Obligations

The Company leases certain equipment and software licenses under capital leases. The Company is required to pay certain 
taxes, insurance and other expenses related to the leased property.

The following is a summary of property under capital leases included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets 
(in thousands):

June 30,
2001 2002

Equipment and software licenses $ 8,122 $ 8,122
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization 3,190 5,059

Property under capital leases, net $ 4,932 $ 3,063

Future minimum lease payments required by the capital leases and the net future minimum lease payments are as follows 
(in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,
2003 $ 1,610
2004 1,610
2005 1,364
2006 177

Total future minimum lease payments 4,761
Less: amount representing interest 719
Net future minimum lease payments $ 4,042

Additionally, the Company has purchased software licenses under agreements with extended payment terms. Total amounts due
under these agreements are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,
2003 $ 4,078
2004 865
2005 318

Total $ 5,261
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� NOTE 12.
Commitments

Operating Leases – The Company leases office space and equipment under operating leases. Certain leases contain renewal
options and generally provide that the Company shall pay for insurance, taxes and maintenance. In addition, certain leases
include rent escalations throughout the terms of the lease. Total expense under all operating lease agreements for the years
ended June 30, 2000, 2001 and 2002 was $19,095,000, $26,519,000 and $27,997,000, respectively.

Future minimum rental payments under these leases are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,
2003 $   30,956
2004 17,232
2005 12,430
2006 10,453
2007 9,758
Thereafter 55,264

Net future minimum lease payments $ 136,093

The Company has pledged certain held-to-maturity investments as collateral for payments due under operating leases and for 
a standby letter of credit related to an operating lease. Total amount of securities pledged at June 30, 2002 was approximately
$5,828,000, of which $3,000,000 is classified as a restricted investment. The operating leases expire at various dates through
December 31, 2004. The standby letter of credit expires on September 30, 2002, but is automatically renewable through the
underlying lease expiration date of September 30, 2004.

Other Commitments – The Company has agreements for software to be used in conjunction with its Electronic Commerce
business. The software is to be licensed in incremental units over the terms of the agreements to coincide with the growth of
the Company’s business. Total commitments under the agreements amount to $13.2 million over the next three years.

� NOTE 13.
Capital Stock

On November 1, 2000, the Company’s stockholders approved an increase in the number of authorized shares of the Company
from 165,000,000 to 550,000,000, consisting of 500,000,000 shares of common stock, $.01 par value, 48,500,000 shares of
preferred stock, $.01 par value, and 1,500,000 shares of Series A Junior Participating Cumulative Preferred Stock, $.01 par value.
The preferred stock may be issued in one or more series and may be established with such relative voting, dividend, redemption,
liquidation, conversion and other powers, preferences, rights, qualifications, limitations and restrictions as the Board of Directors
may determine without further stockholder approval. No preferred shares have been issued.

In January 1997, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a dividend distribution of Preferred Share Purchase Rights to
protect its stockholders in the event of an unsolicited attempt to acquire the Company. On February 14, 1997, the Rights were
issued to the Company’s stockholders of record, with an expiration date of ten years. Until a person or group acquires 15% or
more of the Company’s Common Stock, the Rights will automatically trade with the shares of Common Stock. Only when a
person or group has acquired 15% or more of the Company’s Common Stock, will the Rights become exercisable and separate
certificates issued. Prior to the acquisition by a person or group of beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the Company’s
Common Stock, the Rights are redeemable for $.001 per Right at the option of the Board of Directors.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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� NOTE 14.
Transactions Involving Equity Instruments

Employee Plans – During 1995, the Company adopted the 1995 Stock Option Plan (the “1995 Plan”). The options granted
under the 1995 Plan may be either incentive stock options or non-statutory stock options. The terms of the options granted
under the 1995 Plan are at the sole discretion of a committee of members of the Company’s Board of Directors, not to exceed
ten years. Generally, options vest at either 33% or 20% per year from the date of grant. The 1995 Plan originally provided that
the Company may grant options for not more than 5,000,000 shares of common stock to certain key employees, officers and
directors. In November of 1998 and again in November of 2000, the 1995 Plan was amended by a vote of the Company’s
shareholders to extend the maximum option grants to not more than 8,000,000 shares and not more than 12,000,000 shares,
respectively. Options granted under the 1995 Plan are exercisable according to the terms of each option, however, in the event
of a change in control or merger as defined, the options shall become immediately exercisable. At June 30, 2002, 2,344,926
additional shares are available for grant under the 1995 Plan.

All options granted under the 1995 Plan were granted at exercise prices not less than the fair market value of the underlying
common stock at the date of grant. In the event that shares purchased through the exercise of incentive stock options are sold
within one year of exercise, the Company is entitled to a tax deduction. The tax benefit of the deduction is not reflected in the
consolidated statements of operations but is reflected as an increase in additional paid-in capital.

The following table summarizes stock option activity from July 1, 1999 to June 30, 2002:

Year Ended

June 30, 2000 June 30, 2001 June 30, 2002
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average

Number of Exercise Number of Exercise Number of Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Outstanding – Beginning of period 5,196,600) $ 18.69 6,161,785) $   30.86 7,128,141) $   36.96
Granted 1,496,957) 74.45 2,049,049) 46.71 2,818,928) 22.10
Assumed with BlueGill acquisition 637,746) 4.31 -) - -) -
Exercised (794,778) 12.32 (635,205) 10.92 (761,750) 3.09
Cancelled (354,740) 27.16 (447,488) 34.24 (1,100,646) 41.35
Outstanding – End of period 6,161,785) $ 30.86 7,128,141) $   36.96 8,084,673) $   34.25
Options exercisable at end of period 1,850,887) $ 13.58 2,588,418) $   26.40 3,122,949) $   38.84
Weighted average per-share fair value of options

granted during the year $ 48.16 $   32.06 $   14.81

The following table summarizes information about options outstanding at June 30, 2002:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Average Weighted
Remaining Average

Contractual Exercise Exercise
Range of Exercise Price Number Life Price Number Price

$ 0.01 – $ 15.00 1,691,469 6.0 $ 11.55 867,736) $ 10.64
$15.01 – $ 30.00 2,107,732 8.6 17.79 390,661) 21.77 
$30.01 – $ 60.00 3,639,647 8.0 43.39 1,502,642) 45.06
$60.01 – $ 90.00 187,990 7.6 75.06 69,420) 76.10
$90.01 – $120.00 457,835 7.5 104.50 292,490) 104.50

8,084,673 $ 34.25 3,122,949) $ 38.84
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The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the
following weighted-average assumptions used for grants in the years ended June 30, 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively: dividend
yield of 0% in all periods; expected volatility of 83%, 98% and 98%; risk-free interest rates of 6.30%, 5.62%, and 4.00%; and
expected lives of two to seven years.

The Company agreed to assume responsibility for the 1997 and 1998 Employee Incentive Stock Option Plans of BlueGill
Technologies, Inc. in conjunction with the acquisition of BlueGill in April 2000. All outstanding options were converted to
equivalent CheckFree options as specifically prescribed in the Asset Purchase Agreement. The fair value of the options 
assumed of $18.5 million was estimated on the acquisition date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the 
following weighted-average assumptions used: dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of 83%; risk-free interest rate of 6.60% 
and expected lives of one half to seven years. The estimated fair value of the assumed option plans was added to the fair value
of Company stock issued in determining the purchase price of BlueGill.

Under the 1997 Associate Stock Purchase Plan, effective for the six-month period beginning January 1, 1997, the Company 
is authorized to issue up to 1,000,000 shares of Common Stock to its full-time employees, nearly all of whom are eligible to
participate. Under the terms of the Plan, employees can choose, every six months, to have up to 15% of their salary withheld 
to purchase the Company’s Common Stock. The purchase price of the stock is 85% of the lower of its beginning-of-period or
end-of-period market price. Participation in the plan by eligible employees has ranged from 30% to 50% in any given six-month
period. Under the Plan, 52,191 shares were issued in January of 2000, 34,941 in July of 2000, 56,901 in January of 2001 and
79,055 in July of 2001, 135,721 in January of 2002 and 128,443 in July of 2002 from employees’ salary withholdings from the
respective previous six-month period. As of June 30, 2002 there were 387,197 shares available for future issuance to the
Associate Stock Purchase Plan. Following is a summary of the weighted average fair market value of this look-back option
estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, and the related assumptions used:

December 31, June 30, December 31, June 30, December 31 June 30,
1999 2000 2000 2001 2001 2002

Fair value of options $8.93 $29.15 $11.63 $9.28 $4.95 $4.17
Assumptions:

Risk-free interest rate 5.8% 5.8% 4.4% 4.4% 4.0% 4.0%
Expected life 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months
Volatility 83.4% 83.4% 98.2% 98.2% 98.0% 98.0%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

The Company applies APB Opinion 25,“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and related Interpretations in accounting for
its stock option plans and employee stock purchase plan. Had compensation cost for the Company’s stock-based compensation
plans been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates for awards under those plans in accordance with the provisions
of SFAS 123,“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” the Company’s net loss and net loss per share would have been as
follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended June 30,

2000 2001 2002

Pro forma net loss $ (50,073) $ (393,961) $ (476,132)
Pro forma net loss per share;

Basic and Diluted $  (0.94) $    (4.87) $     (5.44)

In the year ended June 30, 2000 the Company issued 13,000 shares of restricted stock to certain of its key employees.
Under the terms of the grants the shares vest annually over a five-year period and full vesting is dependent upon the continued
employment of the employee for the duration of the vesting period. Shares issued were recorded at fair market value on the
date of the grant with a corresponding charge to stockholders’ equity. The unearned portion is being amortized as
compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the related vesting period.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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In January 1997 the Board of Directors approved an amendment to the Company’s 401(k) plan, which authorized up to
1,000,000 shares of Common Stock for the Company’s matching contribution. The Company issued 36,226 shares in August
1999, 51,834 shares in August of 2000 and 132,887 shares in August 2001 to fund its 401(k) match that had accrued during the
years ended June 30, 1999, 2000 and 2001, respectively. As of June 30, 2002 there were 625,899 shares available for future
contributions to the 401(k) plan.

Stock-Related Transactions With Third Parties – In October 2000, the Company completed an agreement to acquire
various electronic billing and payment assets from Bank of America in exchange for ten million shares of the Company’s
common stock. Bank of America has the ability to earn warrants on up to ten million additional shares, eight million of which
vest upon achievement of specific levels of active subscriber adoption of electronic billing and payment services and separately,
two million upon achievement of specific levels of electronic bills presented to those subscribers. The warrants contain a strike
price of $32.50. Should the vesting of these warrants become probable, the Company will record a charge for the fair value of
the portion of the warrants earned to date based on Bank of America’s progress towards achieving the milestones set forth in
the agreement. The Company will continue to record a charge each period for any additional portion of the warrants earned,
plus any change in fair value of the cumulative amount of warrants earned to date, up to the point in time that the milestones
are achieved and actual vesting occurs. Under the provisions of EITF 01-9, any charge associated with these warrants will be
recorded as a reduction of revenue up to the aggregate amount of revenue received from Bank of America.

In October 1999, the Company entered into an agreement with one of its customers. Under the terms of the agreement, the
customer purchased 250,000 shares of the Company’s stock, has been issued warrants on one million shares, and has the ability
to earn warrants on up to two million additional shares. All warrants contain a strike price of $39.25 and are exercisable on
September 15, 2002, contingent upon achievement of various annual revenue targets and maintaining the continued existence 
of the agreement through that date. During the quarter ended June 30, 2002, vesting of the warrants for one million shares
became probable. As such, the Company recorded a non-cash charge of $2,748,000 for the fair value of the portion of the
warrants earned through June 30, 2002 based on a Black-Scholes option pricing model valuation. At September 15, 2002, upon
actual vesting, the Company will determine the final fair value of the one million warrants taking into consideration the market
value of our stock at that date. During the quarter ending September 30, 2002, the Company will record a charge for the
additional portion of the warrants earned since June 30, 2002, and any change in fair value of the portion of the warrants
earned through June 30, 2002. Under the provisions of EITF 01-9, the non-cash charge of $2,748,000 was recorded as a
reduction of revenue, and any increase or decrease in the fair value upon actual vesting will be also be recorded as an increase
or decrease to revenue.

In January 1998 the Company entered into a ten-year processing agreement with a strategic partner. Under the terms of the
agreement, the partner acquired ten-year warrants exercisable at $20 15/16 for ten million shares of the Company’s Common
Stock. Three million warrants vested upon the execution of a related processing outsourcing agreement on March 9, 1998.
During the year ended June 30, 2001, the strategic partner’s business was dissolved and they therefore do not have the ability 
to earn any of the remaining seven million warrants. During each of the fiscal years ended June 30, 2000 and 2001 the strategic
partner exercised 750,000 of the vested options and 1,500,000 remain outstanding at June 30, 2002.

In March 1997 the Company entered into a consulting agreement with a third party. Under the terms of the agreement the
consultant acquired 5-year options exercisable at $13.00 for up to 50,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock. In June
1998, upon the execution of a processing agreement with a key customer, 25,000 of the options vested. The remaining 25,000
options vested in March 2002. In March 2002, the consultant exercised all 50,000 options. Any shares acquired by the
consultant under the terms of the agreement are subject to certain transfer restrictions.

Convertible Subordinated Notes – In November 1999 the Company issued $172,500,000 million of convertible
subordinated notes. Each $1,000 note may be converted, at the holder’s option, into 13.6612 shares of common stock at a
conversion rate of $73.20 per share. The fair market value of the Company’s stock on June 30, 2002 was $15.64 per share.
Please refer to Note 10 for further information regarding the convertible subordinated notes.
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� NOTE 15.
Earnings Per Share

The following table reconciles the differences in income and shares outstanding between basic and dilutive for the periods indicated 
(in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended June 30, 2000                            Year Ended June 30, 2001                              Year Ended June 30, 2002

Income Shares Per-Share Income Shares Per-Share Income Shares Per-Share
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount (Numerator) (Denominator) Amount (Numerator) (Denominator) Amount

Basic EPS $ (32,320) 53,367 $ (0.61) $ (363,135) 80,863 $ (4.49) $ (440,950) 87,452 $ (5.04)
Effective of dilutive securities:

Options and warrants - - - - - -
Convertible notes - - - - - -

Diluted EPS $ (32,320) 53,367 $ (0.61) $ (363,135) 80,863 $ (4.49) $ (440,950) 87,452 $ (5.04)

Anti-dilution provisions of SFAS 128 require consistency between diluted per-common-share amounts and basic per-common-share
amounts in loss periods. The number of anti-dilutive equivalent shares excluded from the per-share calculations is 6,157,241,
5,561,894 and 3,255,624 for the years ended June 30, 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively. The after-tax effect of interest expense on 
the convertible subordinated notes of approximately $4,384,000, $9,198,000 and $9,498,000 for the years ended June 30, 2000, 2001 
and 2002, respectively, has not been added back to the numerator, as its effect would be anti-dilutive.

� NOTE 16.
Employee Benefit Plans

Retirement Plan – The Company has a defined contribution 401(k) retirement plan covering substantially all of its U.S.-based
employees. Under the plan eligible employees may contribute a portion of their salary until retirement and the Company, at its
discretion, may match a portion of the employee’s contribution. In January 2002, the Company added a similar plan covering
substantially all its non U.S.-based employees. Total expense under both plans amounted to $2,886,000, $3,528,000 and $3,035,000,
for the years ended June 30, 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively.

Deferred Compensation Plan – In January 1999, the Company established a deferred compensation plan (the “DCP”) covering
highly compensated employees as defined by the DCP. Under the plan, eligible employees may contribute a portion of their salary on 
a pre-tax basis. The DCP is a non-qualified plan, therefore the associated liabilities are included in the Company’s June 30, 2001 and
2002 Consolidated Balance Sheets. In addition, the Company has established a rabbi trust to finance obligations under the DCP with
corporate-owned life insurance policies on participants. The cash surrender value of such policies is also included in the Company’s
June 30, 2001 and 2002 Consolidated Balance Sheets. Total expense under the DCP for the years ended June 30, 2000, 2001and 2002
amounted to $162,000, $77,000 and $176,000, respectively.

Group Medical Plans – Effective January 1, 2000, the Company converted all of its U.S.-based employees to a group medical 
self-insurance plan. The Company has employed an administrator to manage this plan. Under terms of this plan, both the Company 
and eligible employees are required to make contributions. The administrator reviews all claims filed and authorizes the payment of
benefits. The Company has stop-loss insurance coverage on all individual claims exceeding $150,000. Prior to January 1, 2000, the
Company had a group medical self-insurance plan covering certain of its employees, and medical insurance coverage under managed
care health plans covering the remaining employees. The Company provides medical insurance coverage to its non U.S.-based employees
through local managed care health plans. Total expense for medical insurance coverage amounted to $7,359,000, $11,116,000, and
$11,588,000 for the years ended June 30, 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively. Under the self-insurance plan, the Company expenses
amounts as claims are incurred and recognizes a liability for incurred but not reported claims. At June 30, 2001 and 2002, the
Company accrued $4,061,000 and $4,153,000, respectively, as a liability for costs incurred but not paid under this plan.

In December 1998, a subsidiary, CheckFree Management Corporation, was created to administer the Company’s employee medical
benefits program. The Company owns a controlling interest in the subsidiary, and therefore, the accompanying consolidated financial
statements include the subsidiary’s results of operations.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

CheckFree Corporat ion and Subs id iar ies. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . �

62



� NOTE 17.
Reorganization Charge

During the year ended June 30, 2002, the Company announced it would streamline operations in its Electronic Commerce
division, refine its strategy for the i-Solutions business unit of its Software division, and discontinue certain product lines
associated with its Investment Services division. As a result of these actions, the Company closed or consolidated operations 
in several locations and eliminated certain other positions in the Company. The streamlining of its Electronic Commerce
division operations results from efficiencies gained from the consolidation of three legacy transaction processing platforms to 
its Genesis platform and resulted in the closing of its San Francisco, California location on April 30, 2002; its Houston,Texas
location on June 30, 2002; and its Austin,Texas location by September 30, 2002. The refinement in strategy for the i-Solutions
business resulted in the closing of its Ann Arbor, Michigan and Singapore locations on March 19, 2002.

As a result of these actions, the Company recorded $16,365,000 of reorganization charges, including $1,640,000 of non-cash
asset impairment charges, $10,962,000 of severance and related benefits costs for the termination of 707 employees, and
$3,763,000 of other exit costs, including lease termination fees and other closure, employee and professional costs. These
amounts are included in reorganization charge in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations. Revenues and
operating income related to the discontinued product lines in the Investment Services division are immaterial to the Company.
The Company anticipates the reorganization plan to be substantially complete by June 2003.

A summary of activity related to the reorganization charges recorded in the year ended June 30, 2002, is as follows (in thousands):

Reorganization
Reorganization Cash Reserve at

Charges (1) Payments June 30, 2002

Severance and other employee costs $ 10,962 $ (6,261) $ 4,701
Office closure and business exit costs 3,677 (649) 3,028
Other exit costs 86 (15) 71

Total $ 14,725 $ (6,925) $ 7,800

(1) Excludes $1,640,000 of non-cash asset impairment charges

In conjunction with the reorganization activities described above, the Company revised the estimated useful lives of the 
Existing Product Technology and Customer Base intangible assets related to the product lines that are to be discontinued from
its Mobius Group acquisition, the Workforce intangible asset from its strategic agreement with Bank of America, and certain
property and equipment assets associated with office locations that were closed. This resulted in additional depreciation and
amortization expense of $3,318,000 for the year ended June 30, 2002, which represents an after-tax impact of $2,710,000 and
an impact to earnings per share of $(0.03) for the year ended June 30, 2002.
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� NOTE 18.
Income Taxes

The Company’s income tax benefit consists of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended June 30,

2000 2001 2002
Current:

Federal $          -) $            -) $          -)
State and local -) -) -)
Foreign -) -) 281)

Total current -) -) 281)
Deferred federal and state (11,437) (115,362) (99,152)

Total income tax benefit $ (11,437) $ (115,362) $ (98,871)

Income tax expense differs from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate of 35 percent to
income before income taxes as a result of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended June 30,

2000 2001 2002

Computed “expected” tax benefit $ (15,315) $ (167,243) $ (188,937)
Nondeductible in-process research and 

development of acquired businesses 2,415) 6,510) -)
Nondeductible intangible amortization 3,572) 60,346) 101,294)
State and local taxes, net of federal income tax benefits (1,636) (14,917) (11,685)
Other, net (473) (58) 457)

Total income tax benefit $ (11,437) $ (115,362) $ (98,871)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities at June 30, 2001 and 2002 are as follows (in thousands):

June 30,

2001 2002

Deferred tax assets:
Federal and state net operating loss carryforwards $  72,972) $   80,692)
Federal and state tax credit carryforwards 4,300) 5,311)
Allowance for bad debts and returns 1,278) 951)
Accrued compensation and related items 1,420) 1,227)
Stock warrants 21,484) 18,298)
Property and equipment 602) 451)
Other investments 3,335) 3,143)
Deferred revenue 2,749) 2,254)
Reserve accruals 8,172) 7,188)

Total deferred tax assets 116,312) 119,515)

Deferred tax liabilities:
Capitalized software (69,864) (24,063)
Intangible assets (174,482) (123,629)
Prepaid expenses (94) -)

Total deferred tax liabilities (244,440) (147,692)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (128,128) $  (28,177)

At June 30, 2002, the Company has approximately $218,671,203 of state and $196,561,289 of federal net operating loss
carryforwards available, expiring in 2009 to 2016 and 2009 to 2022, respectively. Additionally, at June 30, 2002, the Company has
approximately $868,297 of state and $4,746,364 of federal tax credit carryforwards available, expiring in 2008 to 2012 and 2009
to 2022, respectively.

The realization of the Company’s deferred tax assets, which relate primarily to net operating loss carryforwards and temporary
differences is dependent on generating sufficient taxable income in future periods. Although realization is not assured,
management believes it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets will be realized.
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� NOTE 19.
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information

Year Ended June 30,

2000 2001 2002

(In thousands)

Interest paid $   5,982) $     12,119) $ 12,041)
Income taxes paid (received), net $    (229) $    (1,442) $      49)
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:

Capital lease additions and purchase of other long-term assets $   5,688) $     5,716) $   1,539)
Stock funding of 401(k) match $  1,059) $      2,487) $   3,621)
Stock funding of Associate Stock Purchase Plan $  2,287) $      3,587) $   4,433)
Purchase price of business acquisitions $ 239,900) $ 1,351,649) $         -)
Issuance of common stock and stock options pursuant to acquisitions (240,000) (1,350,083) -)
Cash acquired in acquisitions (9,052) (97,200) -)
Acquisition costs paid in prior period -) (965) -)

Net cash received $ (9,152) $  (96,599) $         -)

� NOTE 20.
Business Segments

The Company operates in three business segments – Electronic Commerce, Software and Investment Services. These
reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services. A further description of each
business segment along with the Corporate services area follows:

� Electronic Commerce – Electronic Commerce provides services that allow consumers to receive electronic bills through the
Internet, pay bills received electronically or in paper form to anyone and perform ordinary banking transactions including
balance inquiries, transfers between accounts and online statement reconciliation. These services are primarily directed to
financial institutions, internet financial sites, personal financial management software providers and the customers of these
businesses.

� Software – Software includes software products and related services for electronic billing,ACH processing and account
reconciliation. These products and services are primarily directed to large corporations and financial institutions.

� Investment Services – Investment Services includes investment portfolio management services and investment trading and
reporting services. These products and services are primarily directed to fee-based money managers and financial planners
who manage investments of institutions and high net worth individuals.

� Corporate – Corporate services include human resources, legal, finance and various other of the Company’s unallocated
overhead charges.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 1 “Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies.” The Company evaluates performance based on revenues and operating income (loss) of the respective segments.
Segment operating income (loss) excludes intangible asset amortization, in-process research and development costs and
significant one-time charges related to various business and asset acquisitions. There are no intersegment sales.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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The following sets forth certain financial information attributable to the Company’s business segments for the years ended June
30, 2000, 2001 and 2002:

Year Ended June 30,

2000 2001 2002

(In thousands)
Revenues:

Electronic Commerce $ 213,391) $ 301,532) $ 352,054)
Software 42,012) 62,175) 58,849)
Investment Services 54,792) 69,613) 79,574)

Total $ 310,195) $ 433,320) $ 490,477)

Segment operating income (loss):
Electronic Commerce $ (18,248) $  (13,083) $     39,010)
Software 10,536) 837) 5,789)
Investment Services 15,830) 20,347) 24,376)
Corporate (26,120) (35,746) (36,500)

Total (18,002) (27,645) 32,675)
Purchase accounting amortization (18,517) (393,436) (394,009)
Impairment of intangible assets -) -) (155,072)
Reorganization charge -) -) (16,365)
One-time marketing charge -) (25,000) -)
In-process research and development (6,900) (18,600) -)
Charge associated with warrants -) -) (2,748)
Net other income (expense) (338) (13,816) (4,302)

Total loss before income taxes $ (43,757) $ (478,497) $ (539,821)

Identifiable assets:
Electronic Commerce $ 102,220) $ 1,603,069) $ 1,218,340)
Software 273,120) 206,746) 63,792)
Investment Services 47,246) 50,113) 41,347)
Corporate 290,528) 324,025) 313,998)

Total $ 713,114) $ 2,183,953) $ 1,637,477)

Capital expenditures:
Electronic Commerce $ 18,299) $     28,355) $     15,654)
Software 1,773) 2,938) 2,074)
Investment Services 2,868) 6,771) 2,643)
Corporate 16,555) 9,317) 3,148)

Total $ 39,495) $     47,381) $     23,519)

Depreciation and amortization:
Electronic Commerce $ 19,282) $ 350,277) $ 385,729)
Software 12,317) 62,485) 32,887)
Investment Services 7,634) 9,421) 10,706)
Corporate 3,597) 5,312) 6,243)

Total $ 42,830) $ 427,495) $  435,565)
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No single customer accounted for 10% or more of consolidated revenues for the year ended June 30, 2000. For the years
ended June 30, 2001 and 2002, one customer accounted for $44,500,000 and $60,022,000 of consolidated revenues,
respectively. Revenues for that customer were generated through the Electronic Commerce and Software segments for the 
year ended June 30, 2001 and through the Electronic Commerce, Software and Investment Services segments for the year
ended June 30, 2002. Foreign sales for the year ended June 30, 2000 were insignificant. Foreign sales based on the location 
of the customer, for the years ended June 30, 2001 and 2002 were $7,636,000 and $10,772,000, respectively.

Long-lived assets by geographic area are as follows (in thousands):

June 30,

2001 2002

United States $ 1,804,275 $ 1,238,961
Other 2,471 3,151

Total $ 1,806,746 $ 1,242,112

� NOTE 21.
Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following quarterly financial information for the years ended June 30, 2001 and 2002 includes all adjustments necessary for
a fair presentation of quarterly results of operations (in thousands, except per share data):

Quarter Ended

September 30 December 31 March 31 June 30
FISCAL 2001
Total revenue $ 90,757) $ 107,721) $ 113,069) $ 121,773)
Loss from operations (76,363) (150,570) (123,255) (114,493)
Net loss (58,358) (116,022) (101,067) (87,688)
Basic earnings per share:

Net loss per common share $    (0.91) $     (1.34) $     (1.17) $     (1.01) 
Equivalent number of shares 64,216) 86,286) 86,682) 86,774)

Diluted earnings per share:
Net loss per common share $   (0.91) $     (1.34) $     (1.17) $     (1.01)
Equivalent number of shares 64,216) 86,286) 86,682) 86,774)

Quarter Ended

September 30 December 31 March 31 June 30
FISCAL 2002
Total revenue $ 116,675) $ 121,338) $ 124,586) $ 127,878)
Loss from operations (112,045) (258,251) (95,337) (69,886)
Net loss (88,947) (215,133) (77,459) (59,411)
Basic earnings per share:

Net loss per common share $    (1.02) $     (2.47) $     (0.89) $     (0.67)
Equivalent number of shares 87,090) 87,217) 87,446) 88,063)

Diluted earnings per share:
Net loss per common share $   (1.02) $     (2.47) $     (0.89) $     (0.67)
Equivalent number of shares 87,090) 87,217) 87,446) 88,063)

The sum of the quarterly loss per share does not equal the year-to-date loss per share for the respective fiscal periods, due to
changes in the number of shares outstanding at each quarter-end.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

CheckFree Corporat ion and Subs id iar ies. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . �

68



� NOTE 22.
Guarantor Financial Information

CheckFree Management Corporation is a guarantor of the Company’s $172,500,000 convertible subordinated notes that were
issued November 29, 1999. CheckFree Management Corporation was formed as a medical claims management subsidiary in
order to appropriately minimize, control, and manage the medical claims liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries. As of
June 30, 2001 and 2002, the Company and its subsidiaries own approximately 89% of CheckFree Management Corporation.
As of June 30, 2001 and 2002, the assets of CheckFree Management Corporation represent less than 2% of the total consolidated
assets of the Company, and therefore, separate financial statements and financial disclosures are not deemed significant.
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